SYNERGISM AND POTENTIATION

WITH SPECIAL REFERENCE TO THE COMBINATION OF STRUCTURAL ANALOGUES

H. VELDSTRA

Research Laboratory, Combined Quinine Works, Amsterdam; Biochemical Laboratory, University of Leyden, Netherlands

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	339
II.	Distribution of the active molecules in a biological system (test object)	341
III.	Plant growth substances.	345
IV.	Insecticides	348
v.	Acetylcholine and related compounds.	352
VI.	Sympathomimetic amines.	355
VII.	Analgesics.	357
VIII.	Central nervous system depressants (hypnotics, narcotics)	360
IX.	Miscellaneous compounds acting on the nervous system (anticonvulsants)	365
X.	Chemotherapeutic agents, including antibiotics and antimetabolites	366
XI.	Vitamins and hormones	371
XII.	Mitotic poisons.	372
XIII.	Synergism by reversible inhibition of excretion mechanisms	372
XIV.	Stabilization of an active compound to bio-transformation by structural modifi-	
	cations ("autosynergism").	374
XV.	Epilogue	376

I. INTRODUCTION

The practical interest in the effect of drug combinations dates back to the very beginning of pharmacology, since in combining drugs it has always been attempted to surpass the effects of the separate components.

Serious analysis of these phenomena was not, however, attempted before 1910, when Bürgi (53-62), who was the first to devote closer study to the effect of drug combinations, especially of those with similar activity, formulated the following law: "In combining drugs with the same end-effect, the resulting activity is additive when the sites of action of the components are identical and superadditive if these are different".

For a long time this statement remained the central point of discussion concerning the augmentation of the effect of one of the components by the other (which Bürgi called potentiation). The material for such discussions increased steadily (25, 43, 46, 47, 65, 114, 115, 120, 139, 141, 162, 163, 182, 209, 212, 229, 231, 245, 299, 326, 327) and was analysed by Storm van Leeuwen (316, 317, 321, 322, 323) and especially by Loewe and his school (174–178, 218–224, 306) in great detail, graphic representations being used as a basis for the classification of the different types of mutual influence (267, 268, 269).

As early as 1913, Frei (110) had, in fact, applied a comparable method in studying combinations of disinfectants.

Unfortunately, the terms synergism, potentiation, antagonism, etc., used in this connection did not have the same meaning with different authors, mainly because some used the end-effect of the combination as a measure of comparison, while others used the individual activities of the components.

Rentz (282) tried to terminate the confusion, caused in this way, by an important comparative study of systematics and nomenclature concerning the effect of drug combinations, which resulted in an extensive scheme of the different forms of end-effects (282, p. 358; 283).

However, these graphs and schemes have not been factually substantiated in such a way as to provide a basis for further elucidation of these problems. Thus they have remained formally descriptive only. It is questionable whether we can expect anything more; even if the concentration-activity curves of the components are known in every detail, a combination set down in writing can indicate at most what may occur, but cannot predict what actually will occur when the combination is administered, quite apart from the fact that difficulties may arise in the interpretation of responses and effects observed with different test methods (133, 221).

Apparently the mutual influence of the components, which determines the final result, is generally too complex to be understood on the basis of measured individual *activities* (effects); for this reason it is necessary to substitute a study of their *modes of action*.

In this connection, it is significant that, in modern pharmacology textbooks, very limited attention is paid to the effect of drug combinations, and that the interpretation reached in the majority of discussions relative to the subject of this review may be exemplified by the following quotation: "By synergistic action is meant the production of an effect, which is more intense or more prolonged than would be obtained by either drug alone. This term is also used in a more limited way to designate those instances in which the effect is more than additive, *i.e.*, the response is greater than the algebraic summation of the effects of the drugs, when used alone. This latter definition also applies to the term potentiation" (250).

Synergism literally means working with, co-operation. This joint action of two or more compounds might result in an addition only, but the term has acquired the implication of denoting something extra, in a positive sense, with respect to the effect measured. ("Synergism is the co-operative action of discrete agencies, such that the total effect is greater than the sum of the two effects taken independently" (348).)

We shall use the word synergism in this sense, translated into molecular terms: the combination effects a certain response with a smaller number of molecules than that required for the most active compound separately, or: in the range of suboptimal concentrations, the effect of a certain number of molecules of this compound is enhanced in the mixture.

In the schemes of Junkmann and Rentz (282) synergism in the above-mentioned sense, when found with a combination of an active and an inactive compound, is designated as sensitization, whereas in the case of both compounds possessing the same type of activity the term potentiation is used. As this review will endeavour to make clear, there is no fundamental difference between these two forms of synergism and, moreover, no evidence of a true sensitization is generally present in cases of synergism. This nomenclature should therefore no longer be used.

There is a further reason for dropping the term "potentiation." Potentiation means "to endow with power". Now in drug combinations the components do possess a certain "power", viz. specific activity. In the combination, showing synergism, this power is not altered, but the effectiveness of the power already present is enhanced. The different ways in which this may be effected will be analysed in this review. No real potentiation occurring, the use of the term in this connection should be discontinued.

From this point onwards the true title of this review should be "synergism" alone.

II. DISTRIBUTION OF THE ACTIVE MOLECULES IN A BIOLOGICAL SYSTEM (TEST OBJECT)

1. Compounds having the same site of action. In analyzing the different possibilities of mutual influence by the components of a mixture with respect to the end-effect measured, it is extremely useful to visualize the "localization" of the molecules.

The response, which constitutes the measure of the physiological or pharmacological activity, is generally considered to result from an interaction between the active compound and the respective (often unknown) site of primary action (receptor). For a given concentration the intensity of this response is determined by the "quality" of the interaction, *i.e.*, by the intrinsic activity of the compound, and by its affinity to the site, on which the frequency of effective encounters is dependent (142).

The distinction between activity of a compound, once adsorbed on to the receptors, and its affinity to the same, has been made in plant physiology by Åberg (2), during investigations on auxins and antiauxins. Linser (214, 215), using different expressions, in fact analyzed his material on growth substances and inhibitors in a related way. The data thus obtained were subjected to mathematical treatment by Hellström (144) and Kaindl (179, 180, 181), respectively. Ariëns (10, 11) applied the same method of analysis to pharmacological investigations, working the concept of intrinsic activity into the Michaelis-Menten equation (184).

If we compare two compounds with different intrinsic activities, there is no possibility of enhancing the weak response of the compound with the low intrinsic activity to the level of that with the higher activity. If a low affinity for the receptor is the main cause of a weak effect, it may be possible to equal the effect of a compound with a higher affinity by means of increasing the concentration.

Considering now two compounds with the same type and identical site of action, a synergistic effect of the combination cannot be imagined.

The result of combining the compounds will depend on the relationship between affinities and intrinsic activities of the components. An additive effect may occur if the activities are of the same order of magnitude. If one of the components is less active because of smaller intrinsic activity, its participation in the interaction implies a relatively decreased frequency of more effective encounters of the other compound with the receptor. In this way the less active compound, competing with the more active one for the sites of action, may behave to a certain extent like an antagonist. For this reason, Bürgi's law is certainly too generalized. The antagonistic character increases with decreasing intrinsic activity (assuming the affinity to remain fairly constant), and a compound (analogue of the more active component) with zero intrinsic activity is in fact a competitive antagonist. This type has been investigated extensively in the domain of metabolite antagonists (359).

Summarizing, we may say that the effect of a combined action of two compounds at the same site of primary action will not result in a synergism, but will, generally, even be unfavourable. The competition for the receptor will usually decrease the frequency of the best interactions, and with decreasing intrinsic activity of one of the components the combined action will more and more take the form of a competitive antagonism.

2. Compounds having different sites of action. The sites of action for two compounds having the same type of activity may be different. This is the case when, e.g., the effect can be caused either by a direct stimulation or by the annihilation of an inhibition.

Competitive antagonists for different intermediates in a bio-synthetic chain fall in the same category, if the inhibition of the synthesis of the end-product is taken as their effect.

In both cases the combination of two compounds, linked in parallel or in series, as it were, may well result in a synergistic effect (cf. second part of Bürgi's law).

When the components of a combination possess different sites of action and different types of activity, no plausible prediction about the possibility of synergism can be made, unless their mode of action is well known.

Here "different type of activity" means that, if we take the activity of one component as a measure, the activity of the other one cannot be expressed in terms thereof, *i.e.*, with respect to the measured activity the situation is the same as with a combination of an active and an inactive compound. In our opinion this group can be analyzed in the best way from this point of view.

In thus considering the sites of primary action only, it has tacitly been assumed that they are freely accessible to the compounds, without the interference of secondary factors. This ideal situation does not occur, however, in the complex biological system of the normal test object used in studying physiological and pharmacological effects. To approximate more closely to the factual situation, the following section will also take into account these secondary factors.

3. Secondary factors. "Sites of loss" and their importance for synergism in combinations. The following considerations on secondary factors, influencing the end-effect of an active compound in a biological system, were developed during investigations on plant growth substances (343) with respect to transport and distribution factors. Afterwards they were applied more generally to physio-

logical and pharmacological actions (237, 340, 341, 342), especially in analyzing the conditions for synergism in combinations. They may be given here, preceding a discussion of the publications relative to this field, in which, independently, several authors have applied similar concepts to separate aspects of the problem.

It may plausibly be assumed that, if molecules of an active compound are functioning in a complex biological system, not all of them will reach the site of primary action unhindered. Some may be interacting at sites of secondary importance to the total action, while others may be adsorbed elsewhere in a harmless way or cause toxic effects in the system. Another part may be "trapped" on enzyme surfaces, being inactivated by decomposition or by coupling with other compounds and possibly excreted from the system. Moreover, further types of transport barriers may be present (lack of penetration). All of these events imply a waste or loss with respect to the primary action, and the loci of these secondary actions may be termed "sites of loss".

It may be mentioned here that, as early as 1925, Storm van Leeuwen (318, 319) distinguished between combination of the drug with dominant receptors, responsible for the primary pharmacological action, and "with other substances in the body, where no 'site of action' exists". These substances were called secondary receptors. The distribution between the two kinds of receptors was considered to determine the end-effect of the compound.

Sobotka and Glick (308) observed that the rate of hydrolysis of tributyrin by liver lipase was increased by addition of octyl alcohol in low concentrations, whereas higher concentrations were inhibitory. This was explained as follows: "The surface-active alcohol competes with the substrate not only for the active area on the enzyme, but also for the inactive 'dead spots'. Thus the presence of octyl alcohol actually diminishes the amount of tributyrin taken up by these inactive enzyme areas".

In an extensive review on drug-protein interactions, Goldstein (124) analyzed the distribution of a drug in the human body in more detail, considering the same "side tracks" as we did (*e.g.*, "silent" combinations which, from the standpoint of therapeutic effort, seem irrelevant). A very instructive scheme illustrates the influences of secondary interactions upon the primary action. A somewhat more generalized form (Fig. 1) will serve here.

Under II,1 it was indicated that a compound may be less active than a related one either because of a lower intrinsic activity or because of a slighter affinity to the site of action. Now a compound also may be less active (when compared with another on the basis of the concentration required to attain a certain level of activity) if its affinity for sites of loss is higher, in which case its molecules will reach the site of primary action to a lesser extent. If the affinity for the sites of loss becomes very high, they may not reach the critical concentration required for activity at the sites of action and will be completely inactive. Such compounds will generally be structurally related to the highly active compounds, since the common affinity to the sites of loss (differing quantitatively) depends upon this relationship.

If an analogue, less active or inactive for the above-mentioned reason, is



FIG. 1. Schematic representation of secondary factors interfering with the occupation of sites of primary action by the active compound.

Left: When the active compound is administered alone, part of it is excluded from action by adsorption on to sites of loss of various types.

Right: Together with a synergist, which presumably is preferentially adsorbed on to the sites of loss, the same degree of occupation of primary sites of action (i.e., the same response) may be realized by a smaller number of molecules of the active compound.

applied together with the active compound, it will compete successfully with the latter for the sites of loss. Consequently, a higher percentage of the active compound will become available for its essential action. If the effect was not yet maximal, it will be enhanced, or otherwise the same activity may be attained with a smaller number of molecules, provided that those omitted be replaced by an analogue of the type indicated.

Thus a synergistic effect of the combination with respect to the primary activity is based on a competition between active compound and less active or inactive analogue for the sites of loss. Depending on the nature of the site of loss (Fig. 1), the exact mechanism of action of various synergists will be different. But in all cases the result is enhanced efficiency of the amount of active compound administered to the system, resulting in either a prolonged effect of a given amount (sparing action) or the production of the same effect with less of the active compound. Even the total amount of "work" (occupation of sites of loss and sites of primary action) is done by the combination with a smaller number of molecules than if the active compound were used alone. With increasing affinity of the synergist for the sites of loss, a proportionately smaller amount is required to replace the part of the active compound which is omitted. Consequently, the same occupation of both the sites of action and the sites of loss is realized with a smaller overall concentration.

Thus, the co-operation of the compounds in obtaining the desired end-effect is not a direct contribution to the primary activity, but the prevention of loss of the same. It seems most likely that a very large number of synergistic activities will be based on the principle set forth in this section, *viz.*, on competition of the components for sites of loss.

III. PLANT GROWTH SUBSTANCES

The analysis leading to this concept of synergism was originally applied when investigating the inactivity or weak activity of certain analogues of growth substances. Since the comparisons drawn by this test method are relatively simple and very suitable for illustration, they may serve as an introduction to the subsequent discussion of synergism between drugs and other substances.



The activity of naphthaleneacetic acid (I) was compared with that of its homologues and hydrogenated derivatives in the pea test (350). It was considered possible that the weak activity of γ -(1-naphthalene)-butyric acid (II) and the inactivity of decahydronaphthaleneacetic acid (III) were caused by increasing affinity for sites of loss, in which the shift of the hydrophilic/lipophilic (H/L) balance to the lipophilic side might play a part.

The results of tests with mixtures of naphthaleneacetic acid and both II and III were in accordance with expectations.

Submaximally active concentrations of I become maximally active by addition of the less active II or of the completely inactive III, in amounts which possess only very weak activity or none at all when used alone (Fig. 2).

In a combination of naphthaleneacetic acid with its fully-hydrogenated derivative III, even 2-3% of what is required for maximal activity of the active acid, when administered alone, is sufficient to attain the maximum level. When comparing solutions of the mixture and of naphthaleneacetic acid, having the same maximal activity, the total number of molecules, per unit of volume, in the



FIG. 2. Pea test. The inward curvature of the longitudinally sectioned pea stem is the measure of activity. Naphthaleneacetic acid (I) was examined alone and together with either decahydronaphthaleneacetic acid (III) or di-*n*-amylacetic acid (VI). The figures refer to the concentration of the test substances.

346

former is only half of that in the latter. The synergistic effect is, therefore, very pronounced, and in this way it can be seen how small a fraction of the molecules of the active compound are actually performing their primary function.

The same results are obtained when these synergists are combined with indole-3-acetic acid (IV) or with 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (V).

Normal fatty acids, corresponding to naphthaleneacetic acid in molecular size, are also synergists, although weaker ones. In this series the synergistic action increases if the carboxyl group is displaced towards the centre of the carbon chain, maximal activity being attained with di-*n*-amylacetic acid (VI), which may be considered as an open analogue of III. Its branched-chain isomers are equally active, whereas either lengthening or shortening of the C₆-chains results in a decreased activity (340, 344).

A comparable effect is shown by tri-*n*-propylacetic acid (VII); triallylacetic acid (VIII) is weaker and tri-chloromethylacetic acid (IX) is even less active (342).

All of these synergists have several features in common with the active growth substances, the main difference being that in the synergists the H/L balance, as compared with that of the most active growth substances, has shifted to the lipophilic side.

It seems that, by such modifications of a growth substance, synergists may be obtained rather generally, e.g., 2,4,6-trichlorophenoxyacetic acid (X) and 2,4-dichloronaphthoxyacetic acid (XI) (both inactive as a growth substance) are synergists for naphthaleneacetic acid in the pea test. Furthermore, Thimann (336) showed 9-anthroic acid (XIII) and its 9,10-dihydro derivative to be active in the same way. The two may be considered to be derived from the (primary active) 1-naphthoic acid and its hydrogenated derivative by adding an extra benzene ring. Thimann and Bonner (337) observed that 2,3,5-triiodobenzoic acid (XIII; inactive in the pea test), when combined with low concentrations of indoleacetic acid, enables the latter to bring about a much greater increase in growth. In the pea test, 2,3,5-tribromobenzoic acid is a weaker synergist than its triiodo analogue, whereas the trichloro analogue is only very slightly active (342). Similarly, the lipophilic character of the acids decreases, as is shown by their effects in the beet test (343) and their interactions with the oleate coacervate (343, 344).

With respect to the high synergistic activity of di-n-amylacetic acid, which has the structure of a wetting agent, it is interesting to note that several highlyactive wetting agents and the amino analogue of di-amylacetic acid (6-aminoundecane) are inactive as synergists. Since the molecular size of the compound and the presence of the carboxyl group as well as its position are apparently of importance, it seems, therefore, that this synergistic action implies more than an unspecific wetting or penetrant action. Very probably the molecules of the synergist "take over" the role of the growth substance at sites other than the primary and where the active compound would otherwise be wasted. In these cases, however, the character of the site of loss *viz.*, the mechanism of the action of the synergist, is unknown.

A synergist of the above-mentioned type will be effective in combination with a weakly-active growth substance if this lowered activity is caused by secondary factors. No effect can be expected, of course, if the low activity is due to "failing" at the site of action. It is interesting, therefore, that in contrast with the strong synergistic effect of di-*n*-amylacetic acid with naphthalene-1and naphthalene-2-butyric acids, no such effect is observed with the naphthalenepropionic acids. Nor can the low activity of naphthalene-2-acetic acid (XIV) or of naphthoxy-1-acetic acid (XV) be enhanced in this way. Though synergism with another compound, via another site of loss, might still be possible, it seems very probable that this absence of effect with di-*n*-amylacetic acid indicates a real (primary) inactivity of these acids. Support for this view has now been obtained in the case of naphthoxy-1-acetic acid, since this compound has been proved to be an anti-auxin (1).

In an investigation on the rooting of petioles of Ageratum houstonianum Mill, induced by indoleacetic acid, van Raalte (275) showed indole to be synergistically active.

As indole proved to be inhibitory to an indoleacetic acid oxidase from etiolated pea seedlings (332, 333), it was suggested that the synergistic activity was based on this effect, assuming that an indoleacetic acid oxidase is present in *Ageratum* too. Though this occurrence has still to be proved, the suggestion is a very plausible one, since in the same rooting test indole is not a synergist for naphthaleneacetic acid, which is not affected by the enzyme. So that, in this case, the site of loss, at which the synergist competes with the active compound, is very probably known.

IV. INSECTICIDES

In the field of economic poisons the interest in combinations (discussed by Bliss (41)) has been stimulated to a large extent by the importance of transport factors in many cases. The penetration of an insecticide into the cells will, for instance, be determined mainly by its capacity for permeating through the cuticle. In a study on surface chemistry in relation to biology, the relevant problems were indicated in a general sense by Rideal (286), when discussing the factors which regulate the penetration of a compound into a living cell: "The diffusing molecules must be free to move under the osmotic gradient and for this purpose it is essential that neither their polar heads nor their nonpolar chains should be anchored too firmly to immobile groups of the cell wall. It would appear that the function of the so-called adjuvants is, in many cases at least, to be preferentially adsorbed onto, and thus block up, the possible retarding groups".

Hurst (159, 160) analyzed this question, as it applies to insecticides, in great detail. He distinguished between insecticides which regulate their own access to the site of primary action in the cell and those which gain access by means of a carrier, which may itself lack primary activity. Mixtures of ethyl alcohol and octyl alcohol, acting on larvae of *Calliphora erythrocephala*, exhibit a distinct synergistic effect: "Selective access of one compound (ethyl alcohol) into the

internal biophases of the biological system is induced by selective carrier action of another component (octyl alcohol) at a biophase, the cuticle, which is remote from the ultimate site of drug interaction".

In such effective combinations of insecticide and carrier, the latter often possesses fat solvent property. It will be clear that in this type of synergism (overcoming transport barriers) a close structural analogy between active compound and synergist is not as essential as in the cases where a competition for sites of loss is the underlying principle of the synergistic action.

The latter type of synergism plays an important part in other kinds of insecticide preparations, a possibility already indicated in discussing the formal structural analogy between rotenone (XVI), pyrethrins (XVII) and several highly active, empirically developed synergists which possess no insecticidal activity of their own (340).

These synergists, e.g., piperonyl butoxide (XVIII), piperonyl cyclonene (XIX), propyl isome (XX) and N-isobutylundecylenamide (XXI) (45, 64, 265, 273, 274, 346) were developed after Haller *et al.* (136, 137, 138) had shown that the synergistic effect of sesame oil in combination with pyrethrins and rotenone (100, 101) was also exhibited by pure components of the oil, *e.g.*, sesamin (XXII). Recently Beroza (27, 28, cf. 68) reported that another constituent of the oil, *viz.*, sesamolin (XXIII) is still more effective as a synergist.

The formal arrangements of insecticides and synergists given here are chosen in order to illustrate their structural analogy and represent, of course, but one possible selection from the various spatial forms, in which the compounds may occur. The selection indicates, however, that these insecticides and synergists may take forms which are closely enough related to result in competition for a receptor.







Several tentative explanations have been offered with regard to the mode of action of pyrethrin synergists (90, 98, 213, 257, 258), including not only facilitation of the passage through the insect cuticle but also influence on the orientation of the pyrethrin molecules at the nerve sheath interface, which would lead to an enhanced accumulation of the insecticide at the site of action.

The importance of a possible structural analogy, which is not entirely clear in these cases, would be more evident if the views put forward by Wilson (352) and by Chamberlain (70) could be substantiated in detail. Wilson studied the effect of piperonyl butoxide and piperonyl cyclonene, in combination with pyrethrum, on house flies and obtained indications that the synergists interfere with detoxication processes. Chamberlain, in analyzing the mode of action of piperonyl butoxide, showed that the enzyme lipase very probably plays a part in the metabolism of the pyrethrins and that the action of the enzyme (from roach and house fly extracts) is inhibited to some extent by the synergist.

Matsubara (233) studied the detoxication of pyrethrum emulsions by ground tissue of the house fly (tested with mosquito larvae) and found this to be notably reduced by piperonyl butoxide.

More clear-cut results have been obtained in studying synergists for the DDT type (XXIV) of insecticides. The search for synergists has been especially stimulated in this case by the development of resistance towards DDT by the house fly. Accordingly, an attempt was made to determine whether the susceptibility of the resistant forms to the insecticide could be raised to the normal level again.

A large number of compounds were screened for these properties (24, 232, 259, 260, 309, 310, 311, 328, 329), and it was proved that the most effective synergists were to be found among structural analogues of DDT (XXV-XXIX). In this respect it is somewhat surprising that piperonyl cyclonene (XIX), which bears no apparent structural analogy to DDT, also shows synergistic activity with this insecticide, while all other pyrethrin synergists are without effect.

In the DMC (XXV) group, very small variations in the structure cause a strong decrease of synergistic activity, whereas in the diphenylamine derivatives and in the series of sulfonanilides the structural requirements are less stringent. The above-mentioned synergists are active in combination with DDT and related compounds, but not in admixture with other types of insecticides.

A clue to the mechanism of the action of the synergists was obtained by combining the results of different investigations. Sternburg *et al.* (315, *cf.* 354) showed that DDT is metabolized to the practically inactive DDE (XXX) by DDTresistant flies, whereas the susceptible flies are unable to do so or to a far lesser extent.

Subsequently it was found that piperonyl cyclonene (259, 260, 354, 355) and DMC (261)) inhibit DDE formation in the resistant flies, thereby demonstrating in the latter instance a connection between the synergistic activity and the degree of inhibition. Perry *et al.* (259, 261) and Speroni *et al.* (309, 310, 311) then made the plausible suggestion that the synergists would act by preventing the enzymatic degradation of the insecticide in the resistant insects (135).

Thus, insight into the problem of development of resistance (241), simultaneously provides information about the mode of action of the synergists, implying a competition for the site of loss, which constitutes the detoxifying enzyme system. Though an enzyme may be inhibited by compounds other than substrate analogues (cf., piperonyl cyclonene), the high synergistic effectiveness of structural analogues of the insecticide is comprehensible in this way.

It might also be worthwhile to evaluate the effect of mixtures, *e.g.*, the most active compound of a series combined with a less active or inactive one from the same series, in other groups of insecticides.

With other poisons of economic importance, *e.g.*, fungicides, the application of synergists might, in certain cases, be of equal importance but until now relatively little attention has been paid to possibilities in this field, and material for discussion is hardly available (96, 155).

In another application of chemicals for agricultural purposes, *viz.*, the use of ethylene chlorohydrin (XXXI) to interrupt the rest period of potatoes and thus hasten their germination, the addition of the structurally related, more lipophilic, ethylene dichloride (XXXII), results, according to Denny (93), in a synergism, the mechanism of which is as yet obscure.

V. ACETYLCHOLINE AND RELATED COMPOUNDS

During his investigations on synergism of drugs, Fühner (115), as early as 1918, found that physostigmine (eserine) enormously enhanced the action of acetylcholine on the leech muscle. He suggested that this synergism might be explained by a protecting action of physostigmine with regard to the decomposition of acetylcholine, the instability of which, especially in alkaline medium, was well-known. Fühner stated clearly, however, that the relations might be more complex, since, with the same test object, physostigmine also enhanced the action of the stable barium chloride, but failed to do so with other objects.

Though at present much more detailed information is available about the character and the function of acetylcholine decomposition by enzymes (cholinesterases) and the effects of anticholinesterases on this mechanism (52, 92, 191), the complex situation with respect to synergism in these processes has been unravelled only to a small extent.

Several authors (69, 225, 280, 281) have suggested that the enhancement of the action of acetylcholine and related acylcholines by known cholinesterase inhibitors (e.g., eserine) might be due to a retardation of the enzymatic decomposition. Also with respect to the synergism between acetylcholine and adrenaline in certain cases (63) and that between succinylcholine and choline (255, 256) such a mechanism has been considered.

In a detailed review on adrenaline-acetylcholine relations in the nervous system, clearly showing their complexity, Burn (63) discussed the possibility that adrenaline (or its oxidation products) might possess anticholinesterase activity, as described for the latter by Waelsch and Wackow (242, 347).

Apart from the fact that Ellis (104) was unable to find evidence for cholinesterase inhibition by adrenochrome, any possible activity of adrenaline certainly cannot be of general importance in this respect, since in denervated skeletal muscle, adrenaline also enhances the effect of tetramethylammonium iodide, which is not decomposed enzymatically. Burn (63) suggested that an effect of adrenaline on the permeability of cell membranes towards acetylcholine might play a part in a possible mechanism. Nevertheless, to cite the author: "More facts are needed".

With regard to the effect of choline on the action of succinylcholine, Osterloh (255, 256) arrived at comparable conclusions. For choline also enhances the neuromuscular blocking effect of decamethonium on the indirectly stimulated gastrocnemius muscle of the decapitated cat.

Similar findings have been reported by Zaimis (365) and by Hutter (161) with respect to the enhancement, by eserine and prostigmine, of the action of decamethonium and choline on mammalian muscle. Löw and Tammelin (226) found a strong synergistic effect of tetraethylpyrophosphate (TEPP) on the neuromuscular blocking action of succinylcholine, which could not be explained satisfactorily by an influence on the rate of hydrolysis. Moreover, with succinylcholine, the spontaneous hydrolysis is very probably far more important than the enzymatic hydrolysis. Osterloh supposes that in the synergism between succinylcholine (or decamethonium) and choline a mutual intensification of neuromuscular blocking effects may be of primary importance (cf. the antagonism between d-tubocurarine and choline (161)).

Though it is conceivable that under simplified experimental conditions a sparing action with respect to acetylcholine, exerted by anticholinesterases. is

mainly responsible for a synergistic effect *in vitro*, in more complex situations *in vivo* an explanation will not be found by focussing attention exclusively on this site of loss. As suggested by Osterloh, interactions at the site of primary action will have to be considered too (191): "... potent and specific inhibition of cholinesterase may exert direct actions on effector cells. An inhibitor combines with an enzyme by virtue of an affinity between certain active groups of the enzyme and the inhibitor molecules. Inasmuch as acetylcholine is able to combine with either the enzyme molecule or some "receptor group" of the effector cells, it is likely that enzyme and cell receptor have certain chemical or physical properties in common. It is therefore reasonable to assume that an enzyme inhibitor might also combine with the receptor groups of the effector cells, leading either to the initiation of a response similar to that evoked by acetylcholine or to cholinergic blockade".

Holaday *et al.* (154), studying ganglionic transmission after inhibition by anticholinesterases, concluded that the effect of high doses of di-*iso* propyl-fluorophosphonate (DFP) is probably due to an action unrelated to its anticholinesterase effect. In their opinion, possible mechanisms include an interference with the responsiveness of ganglion cells.

Cohen et al. (76), who analyzed the structure of neuroreceptors in striated muscle and also the relationship between the pharmacological action of neuromuscular drugs and their inhibitory effects on esterases, could differentiate between depolarizing and competitive neuromuscular agents (e.g., decamethonium and gallamine (Flaxedil[®]), respectively) and ganglion-blocking compounds (pentamethonium) when comparing their interactions with several types of esterases. Concluding from their results, the authors suggest that the pattern of anionic sites on the endplate receptor is reflected in the structure of cholinesterases.

As this mapping of effector site and enzyme surface advances, it may become possible to understand in more detail the combined attack on a complex site of primary action and its consequences with respect to synergistic effects.

In an important contribution to the solution of this problem Cohen and Posthumus (75) studied the influence of pretreatment with anticholinesterases on the effect of neuromuscular agents (using the isolated frog musculus rectus abdominis). They observed an enhanced response not only towards choline esters, but also towards compounds not attacked by true cholinesterase (e.g., butyrylcholine and non-ester compounds like decamethonium and choline). Evidently cholinesterase inhibition cannot be the sole cause of this enhanced response. The authors, with a plausible argumentation, suggest that, after reaction of the receptor with an anticholinesterase, the subsequent interaction of an effector with specific sites (discussed in detail with regard to their possible types) results in an enhanced effect. If their hypothesis can be substantiated, this type of synergism may, perhaps, rightly be designated a true "sensitization" of a complex effector site.

Since the sensitivity of the motor endplate to acetylcholine is increased after

denervation (89), it might be worthwhile to analyze how far the action of certain anticholinesterases may be considered as a "pharmacological denervation." This possibility was discussed by Fleckenstein *et al.* (106, 107) with regard to the action of cocaine on adrenergic systems. (See next section. See also, however, in this connection, a recent paper by Snell and McIntyre (307), who—by histochemical methods—obtained evidence for a gradual reduction in the cholinesterase concentration at the endplate after denervation.)

VI. SYMPATHOMIMETIC AMINES

In 1910 Fröhlich and Loewi (114) found that cocaine, in combination with adrenaline, has a synergistic effect on the pressor and mydriatic actions of the latter. Since then several investigators, in corroborating this finding (e.g., 20) and also analyzing other compounds for a possible synergism with adrenaline and other sympathomimetic amines, have tried to discover the mechanism of the action.

Apart from cocaine and various other local anaesthetics, compounds like hydroxyhydroquinone (17) and ephedrine (116) have also proved to be active in this respect. While, in the case of hydroxyhydroquinone and other reducing substances, it is plausible to assume that the synergistic effect implies a protection, by preventing the chemical oxidation of adrenaline, a different explanation is needed for the synergistic activity of ephedrine, cocaine, and other compounds. Clark (73), in comparing these cases, thought the simplest explanation to be "the assumption that the cell receptor is a complex structure and that cocaine alters it in some manner so that either the rate of association of adrenaline is increased or its rate of dissociation is decreased".

Gaddum's claim, however, that the action of ephedrine has to be ascribed to an inhibitory effect on amine oxidase—oxidizing adrenaline enzymatically (40) introduced a new line of investigation. McGregor (228), Tripod (339), and Philpot (264) extended Gaddum's hypothesis by relating the action of cocaine and other local anesthetics to amine oxidase inhibition (for amine oxidase and amine metabolism in general, see Blaschko (39)). Bacq (19) has shown, on the basis of detailed studies in which the ephedrine effect is demonstrated to be a direct action and not an indirect one *via* adrenaline, that Gaddum's arguments, particularly with regard to ephedrine, do not stand criticism.

Though the inhibition of adrenaline oxidation by local anesthetics (264) may contribute to their synergistic effect, this cannot be the sole cause, since no parallelism is found between synergism and degree of enzyme inhibition (21). Moreover, cocaine does not enhance the action of either tyramine or phenylethylamine (both very good substrates for amine oxidase), but completely suppresses both of them (18).

Miyake (244) reported that the inactivation of adrenaline by liver extracts in the presence of hemoglobin is certainly inhibited by cocaine, procaine, dibucaine, stovaine, and tutocaine, but that—on account of a number of observations

with different test objects—the synergistic effect in vivo cannot be explained exclusively on the basis of a theory of enzyme inhibition.¹

In two recent papers by Fleckenstein *et al.* (106, 107), this conclusion was underlined again. They also pointed out the fact that (using the cat nictitating membrane) the actions of corbasil and dihydroxyephedrine, neither of which is attacked by amine oxidase, are enhanced even more than that of adrenaline. In their extensive analysis of the action of sympathomimetic amines on the above mentioned test object, the authors found that, in the chronically denervated membrane, the effect of sympathomimetics of the catechol series (*e.g.*, adrenaline) is enhanced (236, 325) in the same way as in the normal membrane under the influence of cocaine. They conclude that, very probably, the action of cocaine must be considered as a "pharmacological denervation".

An important argument in favour of this view is the fact that the action of another group of sympathomimetics (e.g., tyramine, phenylethylamine) is reduced, both by denervation and by administration of cocaine. This would mean that the synergistic effect brought about by cocaine implies an influence on the responsiveness of the effector site. Fleckenstein *et al.* suggest that this may be connected with an annihilation (by denervation, or by administration of cocaine) of the normal accommodation of the nictitating membrane muscle to noradrenaline.

In that case, consideration should be given to the fact that the synergism would occur in a "damaged" system: the synergistic compound (cocaine) reduces the normal supply of noradrenaline, which is restored or replaced in a certain sense by administration of noradrenaline or of related sympathomimetic amines, which are less effective in the normal situation since they are then more or less superfluous.

It seems probable that, with this investigation, Fleckenstein *et al.* have touched upon the essence of the cocaine action, and this type of analysis should be extended also to local anesthetics in general.

In this connection it is very interesting to note that Griesemer *et al.* (131) bearing in mind the well-known and marked inhibition both *in vitro* and *in vivo* of monoamine oxidase by iproniazid (1-isonicotinoyl-2-isopropylhydrazine) (363, 364), found a pronounced synergistic effect of this compound on the action of tyramine and phenylethylamine on the cat nictitating membrane. Since the action of adrenaline is not influenced significantly, this is just the reverse of the relations found with cocaine, and the other substances discussed above.

This finding does not prove that amine oxidase inhibition is the main cause of the synergism, but there are nevertheless several reasons for assuming that it is an important factor in this case. Monoamine oxidase is much more strongly

356

¹ In a recent communication (Foster, R., Ing, H. R. and Varagic, V.: Alpha Cocaine. Brit. J. Pharmacol. 10: 436-441, 1955) it is reported that α -cocaine is inhibitory to amine oxidase to the same extent as cocaine, but that this isomer of cocaine is practically inactive as a synergist when combined with adrenaline. These results are clearly incompatible with the view that the synergism under discussion is based on an inhibition of amine oxidase.

inhibited by iproniazid than by isoniazid (isonicotinoylhydrazine) and with the latter no synergism was found. Adrenaline and noradrenaline are rather poor substrates for the enzyme and ephedrine is not attacked: none of these compounds was influenced synergistically by iproniazid (for an antagonistic effect towards adrenaline, see (132)).

Sjoerdsma *et al.* (302) advanced arguments in favour of the theory that monoamine oxidase plays a major part in the metabolism of 5-hydroxytryptamine (serotonin) and they reported a marked prolongation of the serotonin effects *in vivo* (rats) by means of iproniazid.

Though the synergism exhibited by iproniazid in the above-mentioned cases cannot be ascribed exclusively to amine oxidase inhibition, yet it seems a justifiable conclusion that, with tyramine, phenylethylamine and serotonin, amine oxidase activity is an important limiting factor and that inhibitors of this enzyme are potential synergists.

With regard to the effect of adrenochrome on adrenaline action and the mutual influence of chemical mediators (enhancement of adrenaline action on the iris dilatator by acetylcholine) reference is made to Lecomte and Fischer (200) and to Rüegg and Langemann (288).

VII. ANALGESICS

Apart from some isolated observations on enhancement of the analgesic effect of morphine in combination with amphetamine (123) or adrenaline (158), the mechanisms of which have not been analyzed, the interaction between analgesics and parasympathomimetics has attracted considerable attention.

Slaughter *et al.* (303, 304) found that, in the cat, several actions of morphine are influenced synergistically by physostigmine and neostigmine (Prostigmine[®]), a finding corroborated later in different test objects (72, 108, 361).

Starting from the point of view that a cholinergic mechanism plays an important part in analgesia (analgesics are known to cause parasympathomimetic symptoms and to be inhibitory to cholinesterase *in vitro* (26, 362)), Slaughter *et al.* considered the synergism to be caused by an extra effect of physostigmine, etc. *via* cholinesterase inhibition.

While corroborating the facts, this explanation was questioned by Komlos et al., since they found that the influence of atropine on these synergisms varied with the test object (186, 195). Therefore, a systematic investigation of the effect of parasympathomimetics on the action of analgesics was undertaken. In mice the analgesic effect of morphine and several synthetic analgesics was enhanced when combined with physostigmine, neostigmine, carbamylcholine (carbachol, Doryl[®]) or pilocarpine, whereas tetraethyl pyrophosphate (TEPP) was not synergistically active (270). Thus compounds not affecting cholinesterase (carbamylcholine, pilocarpine) are highly active synergists, while a strong inhibitor (TEPP) is inactive in this respect. From these results the authors deduce that a common cholinergic mechanism cannot be of decisive importance to the synergism.

By investigating the effect of analgesics (injected subcutaneously in mice

and dogs, in doses of equal analgesic activity) on the cholinesterase activity of the brain, no parallelism was found between analgesic action and degree of enzyme inhibition (188).

Moreover, it was proved that this inhibition was practically the same for morphine alone or in combination with neostigmine (which caused a pronounced synergistic effect). The fact that choline, a weakly active parasympathomimetic is distinctly active as a synergist in combination with analgesics (194), also makes it probable that some properties of the synergists other than their parasympathomimetic activity are of importance.

Knoll and Komlos (187) considered the possibility that the parasympathomimetics might act by a competitive antagonism with respect to molecules of the analgesics adsorbed to "silent receptors" (124), which would render available more molecules for the primary action. Experiments with peptone, based on the observation by Storm van Leeuwen (318) that, *in vitro*, peptone is able to liberate morphine from protein-morphine complexes, showed that—contrary to expectations—the effect of the latter was reduced in combination with analgesics. This reduction could be counteracted, however, by administration of parasympathomimetics, conceivably by a displacement mechanism.

Similar experiments with human serum (189) proved that the analgesics are bound to it and that the degree of this binding can be reduced by, *e.g.*, addition of choline (dialysis experiments). Suramin (Germanin[®]), known for its affinity to proteins, possesses the same property as choline in this respect and enhances the analgesic action of morphine. Taking these facts into account, the authors assume that the competition at what we have called sites of loss between analgesics and synergists (without analgesic activity) plays a major part in the synergisms described.

Subsequently Pórszasz *et al.* (271), by carrying out an analysis of the effect of physostigmine and carbamylcholine on the distribution of pethidine in intact animals (mice, rats), tried to locate such a competition more exactly. In combination with carbamylcholine, the pethidine level in the brain was enhanced (130), although that in blood and in the liver was not significantly changed.

The exact mechanism of the synergism between analgesics and parasympathomimetics has not yet been revealed by these investigations, but important contributions have nevertheless been made to the attainment of that aim.

Mercier *et al.* (238) analyzed the effects of sparteine in combination with various analgesics and established that in mice the action of certain representatives, *e.g.*, morphine, is enhanced, while that of others, *e.g.*, dihydrocodeine, is not influenced at all. A similar differentiation was found with analgesic drugs outside the morphine series: thus benzoxazolone is enhanced in its action, whereas that of antipyrine remains unchanged.

Subsequently, several methonium salts and related compounds were also found to be active as synergists for morphine (240). In all of these cases indications as to the mechanism of action are lacking.

Synergism in combinations of analgesic drugs with various compounds having some structural features in common has been reported. Mercier and Marinacce (239) found that the antispasmodic diethylaminoethylphenyl-p-methoxybenzylacetate (P₄; XXXIV) markedly enhanced the effect of morphine (mice) and, to a lesser extent, that of pethidine.



Angibeaud *et al.* (9) combined methadone (XXXIII), an analgesic which possesses antispasmodic properties, and morphine, which does not, with the antispasmodic dihexyverine (2-(1-piperidyl)ethyldicyclohexyl-1-carboxylate; XXXV), which lacks analgesic activity. The guiding idea was that methadone suffered a certain loss of analgesic action at sites responsible for the antispasmodic effect. Replacing this latter component of the methadone action by a "pure" antispasmodic might then result in an enhanced analgesic effect. Though the relations are certainly more complex, the results of experiments on mice were not incon-

sistent with the hypothesis, since synergism was found in combination with methadone, but not with morphine.

A large number of papers has appeared on the synergistic action of diethylaminoethyldiphenylpropylacetate (SKF 525A; XXXVI) in combination with a variety of drugs. Cook *et al.* (78, 79) showed that this compound enhanced the analgesic action of morphine, codeine, methadone, meperidine, etc., in rats, without influencing either the LD₅₀ (of morphine or meperidine) or the respiratory depressant action (of morphine) in the same animals. This clearly demonstrates the different locations of the morphine molecules in the organism, which can apparently be influenced selectively (see also the "graded" antagonism obtained with morphine antagonists (254, 299)).

The interesting fact that SKF 525A is synergistically active in combination with drugs of very different structures (see also the following sections) prompted Brodie *et al.* (14, 15, 81) to analyze the mechanism of the action and to look for a common factor in the different cases. It was shown that the synergist inhibits the rate of metabolism of, *e.g.*, hexobarbital (83) and pentobarbital and also retards the demethylation of meperidine, aminopyrine and ephedrine (13), thereby prolonging the duration of their actions. It was proved² that all the metabolic systems inhibited by the synergist are located in liver microsomes and that they require reduced triphosphopyridine nucleotide (TPNH) and oxygen. The exact location of the inhibitory effect has not as yet been detected. It seems evident, however, that the mechanism of the synergism is an action at sites of loss.

VIII. CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM DEPRESSANTS (HYPNOTICS, NARCOTICS)

Much attention has been paid to the effect of very diverse agents (42, 198, 312, 360) on the intensity and duration of the depression of the central nervous system by barbiturates and allied substances. In many cases a synergism has been observed, but in most instances there is very little knowledge concerning the mechanism by which this is brought about.

For the present, the fact that in different test animals the results are often widely divergent causes difficulties in drawing conclusions of more general value. An analysis of the cause of these variations may ultimately contribute, however, to the elucidation of the mechanism underlying the synergistic effects.

Particularly when the second compound has in itself a depressant action, difficulties in interpretation may easily arise. This is clearly demonstrated by the studies on combinations of barbiturates with alcohol. A number of authors have claimed that synergism occurs (95, 251, 252, 278, 289, 305). In our opinion their conclusions will have to be reevaluated, however, in the light of a more critical analysis by Gruber (133). This author did not find evidence for anything more than an additive effect, when taking into account the differences in character of the depressants (long acting, short acting) and the different methods of administration.

² For a review which appeared after the preparation of this paper, see Brodie, B. B.: Pathways of drug metabolism. J. Pharm. Lond. 8: 1-17, 1956. In looking for an explanation of the (supposed) synergism, several authors (95, 253, 278) obtained indications that this cannot be based on changes in either the rate of absorption (or elimination) of the drugs, or the distribution of alcohol in the various parts of the central nervous system. On this account, Sandberg (289) considered an increase in the sensitivity of the tissues in the central nervous system to be a plausible cause, but solid arguments to support this contention are so far lacking.

It is known that the antihistamines may cause drowsiness and sedation in patients. Since the evaluation of this property in test animals has sometimes met with difficulties, because stimulation of the central nervous system may interfere, Winter (353) sought to demonstrate the sedative action of antihistamines in animals by analyzing the influence of superimposing an antihistamine upon administration of a drug of known depressant action. It was proved that Tripelennamine Hydrochloride U.S.P. (Pyribenzamine[®], 2-[benzyl(2-dimethylaminoethyl)amino]pyridine); Pyrilamine Maleate U.S.P. (Mepyramine Maleate B.P., Neo-Antergan[®], 2-[(2-dimethylaminoethyl)(p-methoxybenzyl)amino]pyridine); Diphenhydramine Hydrochloride U.S.P. (Benadryl[®], 2-(benzohydryloxy)-N,N-dimethylethylamine) and Promethazine Hydrochloride B.P. (Phenergan[®], 3277 R.P., N-(β -dimethylamino- α -methylethyl)-phenothiazine) will prolong the sleeping-time produced by hexobarbital in mice, when injected subcutaneously half an hour prior to intraperitoneal injection of the barbiturate.

While Heinrich (143), under comparable conditions, obtained similar results in rats, with combination of hexethal and several antihistamines, Cronheim and Ehrlich (87) found that pretreatment of rats with four tripelennamine analogues did not result in any effect on the action of pentobarbital. This clearly demonstrates the absence of a relation between antihistaminic activity and synergism with barbiturates, a conclusion also arrived at by Ambrus *et al.* (6), who, in mice, corroborated Winter's results, but also found histamine to be synergistically active with hexobarbital (7).

Lightstone and Nelson (211), while confirming the synergistic effect of common antihistamines with pentobarbital in rats, also paid attention to the mode of action. No influence of the antihistamines on the rate of barbiturate detoxication by the liver was found, but in an experiment with Ambodryl (β -(p-bromobenzhydryloxy)ethyldimethylamine, the bromoanalogue of Benadryl) and pentobarbital, the barbiturate concentration in the brain was significantly higher than after administration of pentobarbital alone (equalling that of the control at waking). This points to an increased rate of penetration of the barbiturate into the brain under the influence of the antihistamine. In this connection the authors refer to effects of antihistamines on enzyme systems. They are known to inhibit, e.g., pyruvate oxidation in brain tissue (156) and to interfere selectively with glutamate oxidation in brain tissue slices, while not affecting that of glucose (66). It would be most important to analyze how far such activities on the enzyme level may be responsible for the depressant action of the antihistamines and in which way they may influence the distribution of barbiturates.

The combination of barbiturates with analgesics has been investigated to a very limited extent only. Reutner and Gruhzit (284), as well as Cronheim and Ehrlich (86), reported synergism in combinations of barbiturates with methadone in dogs, but data about the mechanism of the effects observed are lacking completely.³ The same is true for the relatively early observation on the prolongation of barbiturate action in rabbits by sympathicolytic agents (44).

Several reports (67, 118, 126, 127, 172, 357, 358) on an often very strongly enhanced effect of barbiturates in different test animals by means of prior administration of tetraethylthiuram disulfide (TETD) have invited rather extensive discussions concerning its cause. The suggestion by Persky et al. (262), that an inhibition of aldehyde dehydrogenase may be involved in barbiturate action, induced Graham et al. (126) to consider the inhibitory effect of TETD on this enzyme (185) as the basis of the synergism observed. Giarman et al. (118), studying thiopental anesthesia in mice and its prolongation by TETD, ascribed a similar role to the inhibition of xanthine oxidase, inferring that this oxidase has a function in thiopental metabolism. While, so far as we know, this inference has not yet been substantiated, Graham et al. (127) expressed some doubt concerning the correctness of their previous opinion, because of the fact that the influence of TETD on barbiturates (in vivo) is not affected by ascorbic acid or by reduced glutathione, whereas these compounds reverse the potent inhibitory effect of TETD on the dehydrogenation of alcohol by liver aldehyde dehydrogenase in vitro (125).

In trying to analyze the TETD effect, the possibility of a direct action on the brain must also be considered. This was suggested by Winters *et al.* (358) with respect to the synergism between TETD and thiopental in rats. The prolongation by TETD of the depressant effect of barbital, which is not metabolized in the body, may also point to this possibility (356). From the same point of view, Kok and de Jongh (192) studied the effect of TETD on the oxygen consumption of rat brain slices. A saturated solution in medium (0.7 mg %) was without effect, but became depressant after stimulation of the oxygen uptake by addition of 2,4-dinitrophenol. Serum from TETD-treated rats, however, showed no inhibitory properties. The TETD concentration in the brain of such animals being as yet unknown, a definite conclusion concerning a depressant action of TETD on brain respiration *in vivo* cannot be drawn.

With regard to the mechanism of TETD action it must be concluded that, though some leads have been obtained, questions for the moment outnumber convincing answers.

Turning to the effect of compounds which in themselves are devoid of depressant properties, it should be noted that Lamson *et al.* (199) caused sleep to

³ After completion of this review, a paper by Glassman and Seifter (Glassman, J. M. and Seifter, J.: The effect of analgesic agents on barbiturate responses in mice. J. Pharmacol. 115: 21-27, 1955) was consulted. This paper describes prolongation of the effects of hexobarbital and pentobarbital in mice by premedication with different analgesics. References to some other papers concerning the enhancement of barbiturate action by morphine are given.

362

recur in guinea-pigs by intraperitoneal injection of nonhypnotic substances at the moment the animals awoke from barbiturate anesthesia. This effect was reported for glucose and its metabolic products, such as hexose diphosphate, lactate, pyruvate, succinate and fumarate. Malonate was equally active, but sucrose or sodium chloride produced no such effect. The authors interpret these phenomena as a "potentiating effect" on barbiturate anesthesia. Richards et al. (285) corroborated these findings and extended this type of experiment by testing a variety of substances unrelated to carbohydrate metabolites. Intraperitoneal injection of a large number of organic and inorganic compounds proved to be effective (guinea-pigs, rabbits). On intracardiac injection, water, blood and polyvinylpyrrolidone had the same effect. No influence on the blood barbiturate level could be detected, but analysis showed that the effect could be brought about at barbiturate levels lower than those found when the animals awoke after the injection of barbiturate alone. Interesting as these effects may be, they very probably belong to a class of synergism different from any so far discussed because of their very unspecific character. No plausible explanation of their mechanism(s) can be offered as yet.

The synergistic effect of SKF 525A (XXXVI) is not restricted to analgesics (see Section VII), since it was also found to be very strong in combination with hexobarbital in mice (80, 338), though not in itself possessing any depressant action. The same result was obtained with other barbiturates and central nervous system depressants (77, 234).⁴ The synergist shows some selectivity, since the action of barbital, thiobarbiturates and methylparafynol (3-methyl-1-pentyn-3-ol) is not enhanced.

As with the analgesics, it has been demonstrated (14, 15, 81, 82) that the synergist inhibits the metabolism of barbiturates. An important argument in support of the view that this property of SKF 525A is the main cause of its synergistic effects is found in the absence of synergism with barbital, a barbiturate not metabolized in the organism.

In a recent paper Neubert and Herken (249) reported upon the synergistic

⁴ In the meantime it has been shown (Fouts, J. R. and Brodie, B. B.: Inhibition of drug metabolic pathways by the potentiating agent, 2,4-dichloro-6-phenylphenoxyethyldiethylamine. J. Pharmacol. 115: 68-73, 1955) that the compound indicated in the title:



also prolongs the hypnotic activity of hexobarbital in mice by inhibition of its bio-transformation. The compound, though considerably different in structure from SKF 525A, appears to block the same drug enzyme systems.

action of β -diethylaminoethylphenyldiallyl acetate (XXXVII), a compound structurally related to SKF 525A, in combination with hexobarbital. The N- β diethylaminoethylamide of the parent acid was far less active. This raises the possibility, already considered by Cooper *et al.* (81), that the active agent proper would be the acid, which, *in vivo*, is generally formed more easily from the ester than from the amide. Cooper *et al.* found SKF acid (diphenylpropylacetic acid) and SKF 525A to be equally active on enzyme systems (*in vitro*), the ester being considerably more effective *in vivo*.

Neubert and Herken (*loc. cit.* 249) found that their synergist was most effective in combination with barbiturates which are metabolized in the organism. This again favours the view expressed above concerning the mechanism of action.

The compound JL1078 (XXXV), the synergistic properties of which in combination with analgesics (9) have already been discussed, proved to be similarly active with a number of barbiturates, though to a lesser extent than SKF 525A (50).

Mirsky and Giarman (243) studied the combinations of thiopental with TETD, SKF 525A and α -tocopherol phosphate (α -TPh), all of which are syner-



gistically active. In the first examples the results were sometimes different from those obtained by the authors previously quoted, probably owing to different methods of administration and to differences between the test animals. For α -TPh it was found that the synergist influenced the level of thiopental in the plasma, but not in the fat or the brain. Alpha-TPh being an inhibitor of thiopental oxidation by rat liver slices, it was concluded that the mechanism of the synergistic action is primarily based on the inhibition of barbiturate metabolism.

Though it can be assumed with compounds of the SKF 525A type that the synergism is largely due to an interference with the detoxication of the drugs, the synergism exerted by chlorpromazine (XXXVIII, 85) and by the Rauwolfia alkaloid reserpine (XXXIX) in combination with hypnotics should be explained in a different way, since these compounds do not affect the rate of metabolic transformation of the drugs (48). The concentration of the drugs in the brain is not enhanced under the influence of chlorpromazine or reserpine. The difference from SKF 525A was also shown when animals just awakening from barbiturate anaesthesia were given chlorpromazine or SKF 525A. In the first case sleep recurred immediately, whereas in the second case no effect was observed. Brodie et al. concluded that most probably chlorpromazine and reserpine act by increasing the sensitivity of the central nervous system. We do not know the actual meaning of this, however, and a further analysis of this kind of action will be eagerly awaited. Most important in this connection is the finding of Shore et al. (300) that 5-hydroxytryptamine (serotonin; XL), as a synergist with hexobarbital, is of the same type as chlorpromazine and reserpine. This synergistic effect can be counteracted by prior administration of lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD; XLI), well-known for the production of mental disturbances. Subsequently it was found that LSD also diminishes the synergism between reserpine and hexobarbital (301). The synergistic action, which serotonin has in common with reserpine and which is antagonized by LSD, suggested to the authors that part of the pharmacological activity of reservine might be mediated by a serotonin release (266). This hypothesis is supported by the observation that the administration of reserving to dogs results in an increased excretion of 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (a major metabolite of serotonin) in the urine.

(For the synergism between chlorpromazine and *Rauwolfia serpentina* in the treatment of hypertension, see 102).

IX. MISCELLANEOUS COMPOUNDS ACTING ON THE NERVOUS SYSTEM (ANTICONVULSANTS)

The polyvalent nature of the synergistic potency of SKF 525A has already become apparent from the foregoing sections. The compound has proved able to enhance or to prolong the effect of other agents acting on the nervous system.

This was reported, *e.g.*, by Macko *et al.* (230) and by Navis *et al.* (248) for the spinal depressant properties of mephenesin (3-(o-toloxy)-1,2-propanediol)and of α -tubocurarine, respectively, and the central stimulant action of strychnine and *d*-amphetamine is likewise enhanced (248).

These findings induced Swinyard *et al.* (331) to study the influence of SKF 525A on anticonvulsant drugs. The effect of seven antiepileptic compounds (three hydantoin derivatives, two barbiturates, 3,5,5-trimethyloxazolidine-2,4-dione and phenylacetylurea) in mice (maximal electroshock seizure test) was compared with that in mice pretreated with SKF 525A. Synergism was observed with all the compounds except phenylacetylurea. Neurotoxicity was also generally enhanced except in the oxazolidinedione.

Since Maas *et al.* (227) had shown that the synergist decreases the rate at which mephenesin is metabolized to o-toloxylactic acid, a similar action on the bio-transformation of the anticonvulsants was considered plausible. It has not yet been ascertained, however, to what degree this actually takes place. Swinyard *et al.* obtained several indications that an interference with drug metabolism is not the only factor operating in this synergism. Perhaps the situation is even more complex, since SKF 525A does possess a slight anticonvulsant activity of its own.

Bertrand *et al.* (29) investigated the combination of diphenylhydantoin with chlorpromazine in rats by the same technique as that used by Swinyard *et al.* (331). The protecting action of the anticonvulsants was clearly intensified in the presence of the phenothiazine derivative. As in the other cases where chlorpromazine acts as a synergist, the mechanism of this action is as yet obscure.

X. CHEMOTHERAPEUTIC AGENTS, INCLUDING ANTIBIOTICS AND ANTIMETABOLITES

The combination of other compounds with chemotherapeutic agents has usually been studied not so much with the object of attaining an enhanced action *per se*, as of reducing side effects and overcoming drug resistance. The combination may certainly effect a better result than that obtainable with the single components, but the difference is rather of a qualitative than of a quantitative nature. Further, in the complex (*in vivo*) situation of a diseased organism, where the degree of recovery may be influenced by therapeutic effect on several functions, the attack by a combination of drugs may be preferable because of its polyvalency.

Gibbs (119) alluded to this when distinguishing, apart from the specific synergism relative to a given function (which is the main subject of the present review) "a functional synergism, whereby a multifunctional complex is affected appropriately through the different functions associated" and "a therapeutic synergism, in which the different functions are utilized to focus on a common target".

These latter types of synergism, very important in medicine (263), lend themselves with difficulty to an analysis like that applied in the foregoing sections. For our purpose we shall select only those cases where either relatively less complex situations, or the fact that the investigations were carried out *in vitro*, allow a more quantitative interpretation and/or the opportunity of finding indications concerning the cause of the synergisms observed.

Mixtures of sulphonamides may possess therapeutic advantages because higher doses can be applied without producing crystalluria and also because the incidence of undesired side effects often appears to be reduced. Proof of a real enhanced activity is lacking as far as we know. Lehr (202, 203) obtained indications of such an effect *in vitro*, with mixtures of sulphathiazole and sulphadiazine on *Streptococcus haemolyticus*, *Staphylococcus aureus* and pneumococci.

Schweinburg and Rutenburg (291) studied fairly extensively the in vitro sensitivity of bacteria to mixtures of sulphonamides as compared with the single drugs. Several strains of both gram-positive bacteria, as Staphylococcus aureus, and streptococci (hemolytic and non-hemolytic strains) and gram-negative micro-organisms: Escherichia coli, Aerobacter aerogenes, Bacillus proteus vulgaris, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Klebsiella Friedländeri and various shigellae, were exposed to sulphadiazine, sulphamerazine, sulphamethazine and sulphathiazole, separately and in binary or ternary mixtures. It was found that in ten out of the seventy strains tested, the activity of the mixture surpassed that of the single drugs. This occurred almost exclusively in the gram-positive group. So far we are completely ignorant about the background of these effects and, in particular, of the difference in reaction between gram-positive and gram-negative microorganisms, since no analysis of these phenomena has been carried out. This would be of importance, since a real synergism in mixtures of compounds with the same site of action cannot easily be imagined (see II, 1), the more so as in a large number of cases a mixture proved to be less active than one of its components.

Sulphonamides are inactivated *in vivo* by transformation into their N⁴-acetyl derivatives and are excreted in the urine in this form, which sometimes causes kidney damage by crystallization. Johnson (170) considered the possibility of reducing the loss of active sulphonamide by an inhibition of the acetylation process. The acetylation of sulphanilamide by pigeon liver extracts was inhibited by a number of amides of aromatic and heterocyclic acids (*e.g.*, 5-bromosalicyl-amide, salicylic hydrazide, isoniazid). Similar effects have been obtained *in vivo* (rabbits; after an oral dose of sulphanilamide together with *p*-aminosalicylic hydrazide), manifested by a twofold increase in the blood level of free sulphon-amide (171). This synergist is thus clearly acting at a site of loss for the active drug. Some of the compounds, most active *in vitro*, failed to show an effect *in vivo*, which may be due to a rapid distribution in the tissues and to a rapid excretion.

With the progress of chemotherapy in tuberculosis (49, 94, 109, 313), during which streptomycin, *p*-aminosalicylic acid, thiosemicarbazones, isoniazid and related drugs were introduced into clinical practice, the use of drug combinations has become routine, the object being to prevent the development of drug resistance (frequently observed with single drugs) as far as possible. The most effective combinations have been selected on an empirical basis, and the question of how resistance is reduced remains completely unanswered. This is not surprising, since the mechanisms of action of the single drugs are still largely unknown. Since these drugs, belonging to different classes of compounds, most probably act along different lines, a combined attack might well give rise to a synergistic effect, but for the present data for discussion are lacking. By focusing attention not exclusively on drug-bacterium but also on host-drug-bacterium relation-

ships, the possible importance of drugs, not tuberculostatic *in vitro* but influencing environmental conditions of the mycobacteria *in vivo*, has been considered. Certain surface-active polyoxyethylene ethers may belong to this group (84, 197), and, with a tuberculostatic drug, a synergism might well occur with respect to the curative effect.

The question whether, in total extracts of cinchona bark (totaquina) or in mixtures of pure alkaloids, a synergism or merely an addition is observed, as compared to the effect of quinine alone, has provoked a lengthy discussion. In our opinion this was ended when Knoppers and Nieuwenhuyse (190), by detailed experiments on bird malaria (canary, *Plasmodium relictum*), arrived at the conclusion that addition does occur. However, a few years later Baranger and Filer (22), also from experiments on bird malaria (*Pl. relictum*, *Pl. gallinaceum*), again concluded that certain mixtures possess greater activity than the sum of the activities of their components. But there is no clear-cut evidence for this view.

According to Greenberg *et al.* (128) a distinct synergism is found when Chlorguanide Hydrochloride U.S.P. (Proguanil Hydrochloride B.P., Paludrine[®]; 1-(*p*-chlorophenyl)-5-isopropylbiguanide) is acting together with sulphadiazine on avian malaria (chick, *Pl. gallinaceum*). Complete protection was obtained by combining $\frac{1}{4}$ and $\frac{1}{32}$ to $\frac{1}{64}$ of the effective protective doses of chlorguanide and sulphadiazine, respectively. Blood concentrations of the drugs offered no explanation for the synergistic effect. It is probable that the enhanced activity is due to the fact that the components are antagonists of different intermediates in a biosynthetic chain essential to the plasmodium (see the discussion on antimetabolites at the end of this section⁵).

Since primaquine (8-(4'-amino-1'-methylbutylamino)-6-methoxyquinoline), though active against primary and secondary excerpthrocytic forms of *Pl. vivax*, is somewhat deficient in its activity against the asexual blood forms (trophozoites), Alving *et al.* (5) were led to the simultaneous administration of a suppressive drug, such as quinine or chloroquine (4-(4'-diethylamino-1'-methylbutylamino)-7-chloroquinoline) in the treatment of clinical attacks of mosquitoinduced vivax malaria.

On comparing the effect of different schedules of drug administration, they obtained convincing evidence of a synergistic effect of both quinine and chloroquine on the curative action of primaquine. In such a complicated situation the search for the mechanism of this effect will certainly be difficult.

In order to simplify this type of analysis, we have tried to find a synergist for quinine among some derivatives of cinchona alkaloids which, in themselves, are devoid of antimalarial activity. For that purpose the 9-chloro-9-desoxy derivatives of quinine, quinidine, cinchonine and cinchonidine were chosen (74, 173, 272) as analogues of a more lipophilic structure. In a series of unpublished experiments on chick malaria (*Pl. gallinaceum*), carried out by de Jongh *et al.*, incompletely protecting doses of quinine were combined with increasing doses of the

⁵ See also in this respect a recent communication (Joyner, L. P. and Kendall, S. B.: Synergism in the chemotherapy of *Eimeria tenella*. Nature, Lond. 176: 975, 1955), describing a strong synergistic effect in the combination of Daraprim (pyrimethamine; 2,4-diamino-5-chlorophenyl-6-ethylpyrimidine) and sulphamezathine.

368

inactive chlorodesoxy derivatives. The derivatives of quinidine and cinchonine proved to be practically inactive as synergists, whereas those of quinine and cinchonidine enhanced the effect of underdosage of quinine, chlorodesoxycinchonidine being the most active synergist. The following data from one of the experiments with this compound may be illustrative. The percentages of infected erythrocytes in the control, with synergist alone (100 mg/kg) and with quinine alone (10 mg/kg) were 82, 81 and 58, respectively. If the synergist was added to quinine (10 mg/kg) in amounts of 20, 50 or 100 mg/kg the percentage of 58 was reduced to 17, 10 or 5.

It should be noted that the configuration of the synergistically active compounds is the same as that of quinine, while the inactive derivatives belong to a different steric series. This points to the importance of the spatial form of the molecule and is probably indicative of a displacement mechanism, the site of which, possibly the site of loss for quinine, still remains to be determined.

As soon as different types of clinically useful antibiotics had become available, studies on combined antibiotic action, both in vitro and in vivo, were started. Jawetz et al. (134, 166-169, see also 8, 293, 294, 295) analyzed a large number of combinations in different micro-organisms and from their work it is clear that a certain drug pair cannot generally be termed synergistic or antagonistic, since the results vary with the micro-organism tested. Some classification proved possible, however, since within the bactericidal group of penicillin, streptomycin, bacitracin and neomycin, mixtures often resulted in synergism, whereas with the bacteriostatic chloramphenicol, aureomycin and terramycin they gave addition only. When combining an antibiotic of the first group with one of the second, the results depended on the sensitivity of the test bacteria to the drug of the first group. The rate of bactericidal action with synergistic combinations was generally found to be higher than with one of the components, provided that the antibiotics were, in fact, administered simultaneously. Until now, the work in this interesting field has been largely descriptive, and the synergism has in no case found an explanation. Interesting facts await further analysis, e.g., the finding of Barr et al. (23) that tyrothricin and carbomycin display a synergism against gram-negative organisms, while apparently being antagonistic when applied to the gram-positive group. Leonardi and Campus (204, 205, 206) observed a sort of synergism in vitro between streptomycin and sulphathiazole against E. coli in the presence of serum. The antibiotic action appears to be reduced by the serum. and this effect can be counteracted by simultaneous or previous addition of the sulphonamide. The same result is obtained with sodium benzoate and penicillin. According to the authors, this synergism cannot be ascribed to a possible antibacterial action of sulphonamide or benzoate, but is caused most probably by liberation of the antibiotic from an inactive serum-antibiotic complex (193).

While the studies on synergism in connection with chemotherapeutic agents and antibiotics, discussed above, were merely empirical, the search for synergistically active combinations of antimetabolites, especially that by Hitchings *et al.* (103, 152, 153), has been guided by knowledge concerning their modes of action.

In the biosynthetic chains leading to purines and polynucleotides (nucleic

acids), *p*-aminobenzoic acid, folic acid, citrovorum factor, pyrimidine and purine bases function in sequence. Since antagonists to these intermediates are known (sulphonamides, analogues of folic acid and purines) Hitchings *et al.* used these compounds in a systematic study of multiple biochemical blocking. It could be envisaged that the action of a certain antimetabolite would render the organism more susceptible to antimetabolites acting at subsequent loci in the biosynthetic chain leading to an essential metabolite.

It was found that in growth inhibition of *Lactobacillus casei*, combinations of pyrimethamine (5-p-chlorophenyl-2,4-diamino-6-ethylpyrimidine) with its 3',4'-dichlorophenyl analogue (compounds with identical site of action) resulted in an additive effect only, but that the combination of pyrimethamine and 6-mercaptopurine (acting at different loci) showed a strong synergism. With *Streptococcus faecalis* likewise a strong synergism was observed in all combinations of antifolic acids with antithymines (e.g., 6-azathymine), whereas with antipurines (8-azaguanine) synergism was either weak or absent. With *Lactobacillus casei*, 6-mercaptopurine in combination with 2,6-diaminopurine showed interference, the inhibition being the same as that obtained with the weaker component.

Though interpretation of the interactions observed cannot be straightforward in all cases, in a large number of them synergism is "a regular and predictable event" (103), and where the results are unexpected, they may give leads to better understanding of the connection between metabolites. In the combinations of sulphonamides and diaminopyrimidines synergism has also been observed *in vivo*. Eyles and Coleman (105) found that in a mixture of sulphadiazine and pyrimethamine, acting against experimental toxoplasmosis in the mouse, the amounts of the drugs could be reduced to $\frac{1}{8}$ and $\frac{1}{24}$, respectively, of their median effective doses, when acting alone. Greenberg and Richeson (129) got comparable results when testing compounds for synergism with sulphadiazine as an antimalarial against *Pl. gallinaceum* in the chick. 2,4-Diamino-5-(*p*chlorophenoxy)-pyrimidine and its 6-methyl derivative proved to be active in this respect. The effective doses of the diaminopyrimidines and of the sulphonamide could be reduced to $\frac{1}{4}$ and $\frac{1}{16}$, respectively, in the mixture.

Synergism within this group of compounds must sometimes be explained in a different way, as has been shown by Shapiro *et al.* (297, 298). The carcinostatic action of 8-azaguanine (XLII) was enhanced by folic acid, which in itself was inactive against the mouse breast carcinoma studied. When it was found (151, 287) that, in mammalian tissues, 8-azaguanine is enzymatically deaminated to 8-azaxanthine (inactive as a carcinostatic agent), Shapiro and Gellhorn (297)



370

considered the possibility that folic acid or its degradation product (2-amino-4hydroxy-6-formylpteridine (XLIII)) might inhibit the deamination of azaguanine *in vivo*. Subsequently it was shown (298) that the formylpteridine is inhibitory to the deamination of 8-azaguanine by tumor extracts. Furthermore, it was found that the non-carcinostatic pteridine acts as a synergist with 8azaguanine against a mammary adenocarcinoma, and it is plausible to assume, together with the authors, that this effect is due to the inhibitory action of the synergist.

XI. VITAMINS AND HORMONES

During somewhat extensive studies on interrelations of vitamins, synergisms have been observed in a relatively large number of cases. This is not surprising because a functional coupling often occurs, *e.g.*, vitamins of the B-complex as coenzymes in multienzyme systems, and because, in principle, the possibilities of co-operation are similar to those discussed for antimetabolites in the foregoing section, but in a positive sense for the biological function.

In several other instances the synergism appeared to be based on stabilization of one vitamin by another, the latter acting, e.g., as an antioxidant. Thus vitamin E in various kinds of experiments proved to protect vitamin A, resulting in an increased storage of vitamin A in the liver of the test animals (16, 246), an increased growth promoting effect of vitamin A (140, 148, 149), or a retarded depletion of its reserves in the liver under certain experimental conditions (91). It will be clear that this type of synergist need not necessarily possess vitamin character.

We shall refrain from discussing the papers separately, as the material has been reviewed by Moore (247) and by Lecoq *et al.* (201). However, interesting as the subject may be, only limited attention has been paid to possibilities of synergistic effects between the structurally related D vitamins (324). Some data about the E vitamins (α -, β -, and γ -tocopherol) have been reported by Hickman and Harris (147).

For various steroid hormones, acting in sequence with respect to a certain function, synergism of the type indicated above for vitamins, has been noticed (196, p. 462). The interaction between androgens and oestrogens may also imply a synergistic action, as has been shown by Ito *et al.* (165), when taking the weight of seminal vesicles, anterior prostate or intramedial lobe (hamster) as a measure.

In view of the close structural relationship between certain androgens and oestrogens, the former being the more lipophilic, it might be possible that in some actions of oestrogens, addition of androgens would result in a synergistic effect on the basis of competition at sites of loss, but so far as we know an analysis from this point of view has not as yet been carried out. It has been reported that (unsaturated) fatty acid fractions may enhance the effect of androgens (97, 164); their mode of action remains to be investigated.

The interaction of corticoid hormones and sex hormones has been studied in a number of tests. Taubenhaus (334) found that, with respect to the inhibitory action on granulation tissue, cortisone and either constrone or testosterone act synergistically.

XII. MITOTIC POISONS

In the elaborate investigations by Lettré *et al.* on the antimitotic action of various compounds in fibroblast cultures (from mesenchymal tissue of chick embryo), colchicine and its derivatives have been studied most comprehensively, together with other agents. In a number of these combinations the antimitotic effect of colchicine was considerably enhanced.

The synergists belong to very different classes of compounds and may be either weakly active or inactive as mitotic poisons. Narcotine (a weak mitotic poison) and antimitotically inactive, structurally related members of the aporphine group (e.g., bulbocapnine) enhance the effect of threshold doses of colchicine. Phlorhizin, a phosphatase inhibitor, is even able to activate a dose of colchicine which has in itself no effect. Considering not only that analogies exist between muscle contraction and contraction of cell elements (occurring during mitosis), but also that adenosine triphosphate (ATP) counteracts the colchicine effect, Lettré favours the view that these synergists (many of them muscle poisons) act either by a direct effect on contractile systems in the cell or by affecting processes leading to formation of ATP.

Several steroid hormones (such as oestrone, testosterone, progesterone, cortisone) and some structural analogues of corticoid hormones are likewise active as synergists. Indications are that their synergistic activity is not directly dependent on the structural features decisive for the hormonal action.

Local anaesthetics such as xylocaine and procaine were proved to enhance the effect of a threshold dosage of colchicine, the former being by far the more active. In these cases no connection with the mechanism of contraction is known and the way in which hormones and local anaesthetics act here is so far completely obscure.

However, different as these synergists may be, there is some analogy in their molecular patterns and the localization of certain groups therein. It would seem worthwhile, therefore, to investigate the influence of the synergists on colchicine in simplified model systems, which might give information as to possible displacement mechanisms.

The relevant papers do not need separate reference, as they have been summarized in a recent review by Lettré (207).

XIII. SYNERGISM BY REVERSIBLE INHIBITION OF EXCRETION MECHANISMS

Those of the synergisms so far discussed which could be explained—at least in part—on the basis of a competition at sites of loss, have been either of type A or of type B (Figure 1).

The finest illustration of type C, in which an excretion mechanism represents the site of loss, is to be found in the impressive series of investigations by Beyer et al., on the selective inhibition of renal tubular excretion.

When penicillin was introduced in therapy, consideration was soon given to the question of reducing the somewhat high rate of excretion (which takes place mainly by way of the renal tubules) of the antibiotic, in order to maintain the desired blood level for a longer time after an injection of a given amount of the drug.

Rammelkamp and Bradley (277) achieved this aim by administration of diodrast (diethanolamine salt of 3,5-di-iodo-4-pyridone-N-acetic acid), while Beyer *et al.* (38) obtained the same results with the aid of *p*-aminohippurate. Both compounds are excreted by the same tubular mechanism and at a comparable rate and therefore, when present with penicillin, they compete with the drug for the excretion mechanism and thus retard its elimination (33).

Para-aminohippurate has been applied successfully in a few cases in clinical practice (12, 216, 217), but the very large amounts required hampered a more general introduction.

For this reason Beyer *et al.* sought to inhibit the penicillin-excreting transport mechanism reversibly and selectively, by means of a compound refractory to excretion by this mechanism. By way of lucid deductions, starting from a plausible concept on the enzymatic nature of metabolic processes, the requirements for such a selective inhibitor were set forth, and they could be met in 4'-carboxy-phenylmethanesulfonanilide (carinamide, XLV) (30, 34, 35). Together with penicillin this compound almost completely suppresses the tubular excretion of the antibiotic, thus limiting excretion to glomerular filtration, which represents about one fifth of the normal rate (88, 157).



Though there is a strong temptation to refer more fully to the brilliant work of Beyer *et al.* in this field (for a review see 31), comments must be limited to the results of direct importance to the present discussion.

Of a series of N-alkylsulfamylbenzoic acids, p-(di-n-propylsulfamyl)-benzoic acid (probenecid, Benemid[®], XLVI) (37) proved to be still more effective as a

synergist for penicillin than carinamide (345). (With the aid of the whole series, Beyer (32) illustrated most instructively which factors are basic to the development of useful inhibitors of renal transport mechanisms.)

When comparing the structures of penicillin (G, XLIV) and that of the most effective synergists, it is suggestive that a certain structural analogy, though admittedly a remote one, may be of importance in this respect. In this connection it is interesting that 2-phenyl-3-hydroxycinchoninic acid (XLVII) has about the same activity as carinamide in sustaining higher blood levels of penicillin (36, 366).

If a competition for some specific enzymatic component of an excretion mechanism really is the underlying principle of the synergisms observed, structural analogy may well be of importance. It might be worthwhile to investigate whether further generally useful, selective synergists of this type may be obtained by starting from the structure of compounds, the excretion of which it is required to restrict, provided that sufficient information is available about the excretion process itself.

XIV. STABILIZATION OF AN ACTIVE COMPOUND TO BIO-TRANSFORMATION BY STRUCTURAL MODIFICATIONS ("AUTOSYNERGISM")

In a number of cases we have seen that synergistic action consists in an inhibitory effect on the metabolism of the active compound. The synergist, as it were, effects an external stabilization of the compound. It is conceivable that such a protection might also be obtained by structural modifications of the drug, causing little or no impairment of the primary action, but rendering the substance less liable to chemical or enzymatic degradation (internal stabilization). In comparison with the original active compound, the modified drug would then possess a "built-in" synergist and the effect might be described as "autosynergism".

Though in this picture the relations are certainly over-simplified, since it would often be very difficult to distinguish between an effect of structural modifications on the activity itself as distinct from an effect on the stability, possibilities such as these are nevertheless worth bearing in mind.

Investigations along these lines have been carried out, especially with local anaesthetics, having regard to the high and prolonged anaesthetic activity of xylocaine (2,6-dimethyl-N-diethylaminoacetanilide). In this series of diethyl-aminoacetanilides, which are attacked *in vivo* at the --NH--CO-- bond (235, 335), the above-mentioned effect may also be operative. This appears from the fact that, starting from diethylaminoacetanilide, the stepwise introduction of ortho methyl substituents increases both the degree and the duration of the anaesthetic action and decreases the rate of hydrolysis (292).

Dvoretzky and Richter (99), in attempting to prolong the relatively short duration of benzocaine action, achieved their aim with the ethyl and n-propyl esters of 2,6-dimethyl-4-aminobenzoic acid.

Childress *et al.* (71) reported β -diethylaminoethyl-2,6-dichloro-4-aminobenzoate to possess an intradermal local anaesthetic activity three and one half times higher than that of the unsubstituted procaine. Rabjohn et al. (276) found that, of a series of β -diethylaminoethyl esters of benzoic acid sterically hindered by alkyl substituents in the nucleus, β -diethyl-aminoethyl-2,3,5,6-tetramethylbenzoate in particular would act over a much longer period than procaine. (For a systematic study, with a large number of compounds, on substitutions increasing the stability of esters and amides in human serum see (208) and (122).)

Since we are dealing mainly in this section with local anaesthetics, a few data on synergism with these drugs in mixtures may be added. Higuchi and Lachman (150) showed that the rate of hydrolysis of benzocaine in aqueous solution is markedly decreased in the presence of caffeine, with which the anaesthetic forms a complex. Analysis proved that the ester, in the form of the complex, is not hydrolyzed to a measurable extent. Though its value *in vivo* still has to be determined, synergistic effects based on protection in complexes might also occur in other cases.

Serembe (296) pointed out the incompatibility of procaine and chloramphenicol: the toxicity of the anaesthetic in humans is strongly enhanced by the antibiotic, so that convulsions may result. There are indications that the metabolic transformation of procaine is inhibited, since, in the presence of chloramphenicol the blood level is raised and more unchanged procaine is found in the urine. The concentration in the brain is also increased.

In view of older work of Stender and Amsler (314), who found that analgesics will enhance the effect of local anaesthetics (183, 349), Wiedling (351) investigated the influence of methadone on xylocaine action. When applied prior to injection of the anaesthetic, the action of the latter was prolonged; intravenous injection of methadone at the moment when xylocaine action ended re-established local anaesthesia. The mechanism of this synergism has not yet been investigated, but it must be remembered that analgesics may display some local anaesthetic effect of their own.

Purposeful modification of the structure of a compound, in order to arrive at a greater stability under *in vivo* conditions, has been mainly limited to the group of local anaesthetics.

In some respects the work on acetylcholine analogues has had the same tendency, e.g., the clinically used acetyl- β -methylcholine and carbamylcholine are hydrolyzed enzymatically at a much lower rate than acetylcholine. Attention was directed, however, predominantly towards a study of substrate specificity of cholinesterase (3, 4, 121, 290).

It has been reported that the biological activities of cortisone and hydrocortisone are strongly enhanced by introduction of either a halogen atom (especially fluorine) into the 9 α -position (112, 113, 117, 210, 330) or a double bond into the 1,2-position (51, 111, 145). Particularly in the case of the 9 α -fluoro compounds one is inclined to ask whether the enhanced activity may be brought about, at least in part, by a lesser degree of biotransformation, the more so since these substances are active on oral administration. Although a few objections may be raised to such an interpretation, since the sodium-retaining activity seems to be increased more than the glucocorticoid activity, a comparative analysis of the metabolism of the various corticoids is nevertheless desirable.

XV. EPILOGUE

When surveying the extensive material discussed in the foregoing sections, it must be admitted that a great number of questions with respect to synergism cannot be answered satisfactorily at the moment, either because the relations are too complex to be unravelled by present methods of analysis or because a purposeful analysis has not yet been carried out.

On the other hand, a relatively large proportion of the cases could be explained on the basis of a competition between the active compound and the synergist at various sites of loss for the former. These sites of loss may be identified as loci of unspecific adsorption (storage at "silent receptors"), as enzyme surfaces functioning in the metabolism or in the detoxication of the agent, or as excretion mechanisms. In our opinion, this type of synergist constitutes a rather neglected counterpart (or even, a special form) of the amply investigated antimetabolites. In both cases the action is based on an (physico-chemically speaking) identical competition with the active compound, resulting in different effects because of different sites of action. While the analogues, termed antimetabolites, act mainly at the sites of primary action (thus causing an antagonism), the competition with the synergists takes place at sites where the primary active compound is lost or wasted, causing an over-all synergistic effect with respect to the measured end-effect.

In antimetabolites a structural analogy with the metabolites is generally compulsory, since the interaction with the site of primary action is specific. Metabolite analogues, however, are not necessarily antimetabolites in this sense, as structural variations may result in a compound, the affinity of which to the site of primary action is less than that to other "receptors", onto which part of the active compound may also be adsorbed. It is in this group of analogues that synergists may be found. Though structural analogy may thus be of importance, it is not a conditio sine qua non, since, e.g., an enzyme, transforming the drug may also be inhibited by compounds other than substrate analogues.

A systematic exploration of the possibilities of finding synergists to active compounds can therefore be made along two different lines. First, they may be sought among structural analogues not antagonizing the primary action. Such investigations would, however, be largely "trial and error" (just as with the antimetabolites), though indications are that analogues with an enhanced lipophilic character may offer a better chance. In this connection it would be worthwhile, when testing series of related compounds for pharmacological activity, not to select exclusively the most active members. Before rejecting less active or inactive compounds, it would be desirable to analyze, with mixtures of underdosages of a highly active compound and supplementary quantities of a weakly active or inactive analogue, how far the same effects can be attained as with a larger amount of the highly active substance alone.

A second approach may be found by studying the mechanisms by which the active compound is metabolized (detoxified) in, or excreted from, the system. Inhibitors for these mechanisms, which may or may not be structural analogues of the agent, are potential synergists. Synergism may also occur when the components of a mixture are acting "in series" towards the same end-effect, *e.g.*, when antimetabolites are competing with different intermediates in a biosynthetic chain (X, see also II, 2). It appears that synergisms of pharmacologically active compounds with the same type of action also belong to this class.

Though synergistic effects in general cannot be explained solely by "a competition at sites of loss", we hold the view that this mechanism is at the root of a large number of these effects and that this concept may prove a useful tool in future investigations.

REFERENCES

- 1. ÅBERG, B.: The interaction of some auxin antagonists and 2,4-D in root growth. Physiol. Plant. 4: 627-640, 1951.
- 2. ÅBERG, B.: On the effects of weak auxins and antiauxins upon root growth. Physiol. Plant. 5: 305-319, 1952.
- 3. ADAMS, D. H. AND WHITTAKER, V. P.: The cholinesterases of human blood I. The specificity of the plasma enzyme and its relation to the erythrocyte cholinesterase. Biochim. biophys. Acta 3: 358-366, 1949.
- 4. ALLES, G. A. AND HAWES, R. C.: Cholinesterases in the blood of man. J. biol. Chem. 133: 375-390, 1940.
- ALVING, A. S., ARNOLD, J., HOCKWALD, R. S., CLAYMAN, C. B., DERN, R. J., BEUTLER, E. AND FLANAGAN, C. L: Potentiation of the curative action of primaquine in vivax malaria by quinine and chloroquine. J. Lab. clin. Med. 46: 301-306, 1955.
- AMBRUS, J. L., AMBRUS, C. M., LEONARD, C. A., MOSER, C. E. AND HARRISSON, J. W. E.: Synergism between histamine, antihistamines and hypnotic drugs. J. Amer. pharm. Ass., Sci. Ed. 41: 606-608, 1952.
- 7. AMBRUS, J. L., PACKMAN, E. W., ROSSI, G. V., AMBRUS, C. M. AND HARRISSON, J. W. E.: The antagonism and synergism of histamine and antihistamines in mice. J. Pharm., Lond. 4: 466-470, 1952.
- ANDERSON, H. H., NELSON, T. L., HRENOFF, A. R. AND FISH, C. H.: Antibiotic synergism in amebiasis. Amer. J. trop. Med. 3: 254-261, 1954.
- ANGIBEAUD, P., BUCHEL, L. AND LÉVY, J.: Sur quelques phénomènes de aynergie I. Associations d'analgésiques et d'un spasmolytique considéré comme leur analogue structural. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 148: 258-261, 1955.
- ARIENS, A. J.: Affinity and intrinsic activity in the theory of competitive inhibition I. Problems and theory. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 99: 32-49, 1954.
- ARIËNS, A. J. AND SIMONIS, A. M.: Affinity and intrinsic activity in the theory of competitive inhibition II. Experiments with para-aminobenzoic acid derivatives. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 99: 175-187, 1954.
- AVERY, N. L., MAYER, O. B. AND NELSON, R. C.: Massive doses of penicillin in the treatment of subacute bacterial endocarditis. Ann. intern. Med. 24: 900-905, 1946.
- 13. AXELROD, J.: The enzymatic demethylation of ephedrine. J. Pharmacol. 114: 430-438, 1955.
- AXELROD, J., REICHENTHAL, J. AND BRODIE, B. B.: Mechanism of the potentiating action of β-diethylaminoethyldiphenylpropylacetate. J. Pharmacol. 112: 49-54, 1954.
- AXELROD, J., REICHENTHAL, J., QUINN, G. P. AND BRODIE, B. B.: Mechanism of the potentiating action of β-diethylaminoethyldiphenylpropylacetate HCl (SKF 525A) on various drugs. Fed. Proc. 12: 299-300, 1953.
- BACHARACH, A. L.: The effect of ingested vitamin E (tocopherol) on vitamin A storage in the liver of the albino rat. Quart. J. Pharm. 13: 138-149, 1940.
- BACQ, Z. M.: Recherches sur la physiologie et la pharmacologie du système nerveux autonome XX. Sensibilisation à l'adrénaline et à l'excitation des nerfs adrénergiques par les antioxygènes. Arch. int. Physiol. 42: 340-366, 1936.
- BACQ, Z. M.: Recherches sur la physiologie et la pharmacologie du système nerveux autonome XXIV. Action des amines sur la membrane nictitante et modifications de cette action par la cocalne et l'énervation. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 55: 190-222, 1937.
- 19. BACQ, Z. M.: The metabolism of adrenaline. Pharmacol. Rev. 1: 1-26, 1949.
- BACQ, Z. M. AND FREDERICQ, H.: Recherches sur la physiologie et la pharmacologie du système nerveux autonome XI. Essai d'identification du médiateur chimique libéré dans la membrane nictitante du chat par l'excitation sympathique. Arch. int. Physiol. 40: 297-310, 1935.
- BACQ, Z. M. AND LEFÈBURE, F.: Recherches sur la physiologie et la pharmacologie du système nerveux autonome X. Sensibilisation et désensibilisation aux amines dites sympathicomimétiques; étude de quelques succédanés de la cocaïne. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 49: 363-378, 1934.
- BARANGER, P. AND FILER, M. K.: Contribution à l'étude des mélanges d'alcaloïdes de quinquina. Ann. Inst. Pasteur 75: 329-337, 1948.
- BARR, F. S., CARMAN, P. E. AND HARRIS, J. R.: Synergism and antagonism in antibiotic combinations. Antibiot. and Chemother. 4: 818-821, 1954.
- 24. BERGMANN, E. D., TAHORI, A. S., KALUSZYNER, A. AND REUTER, S.: A new group of DDT synergists. Nature, Lond. 176: 266-267, 1955.
- BERMANN, R.: Über die Kombinationswirkung von Luminal-Natrium und Skopolamin. Z. exp. Path. Ther. 18: 67-72, 1916.
- BERNHEIM, F. AND BERNHEIM, M. L. C.: Action of drugs on the cholinesterase of the brain. J. Pharmacol. 57: 427-436, 1936.

- 27. BEROZA, M.: Pyrethrum synergists in seesame oil. Seesamolin, a potent synergist. J. Amer. Oil Chem. Soc. 31: 302-305, 1954.
- BEROZA, M.: The structure of sesamolin and its stereochemical relationship with sesamin, asarinin and pinoresinol. J. Amer. chem. Soc. 77: 3332-3334, 1955.
- BERTRAND, I., QUIVY, D. AND GAYET-HALLION, T.: Sur la potentialisation par la chlorpromazine de l'effet anticonvulsivant de la diphénylhydantoIne. C.R. Soc. Biol., Paris 148: 1170-1172, 1954.
- BEYER, K. H.: New concept of competitive inhibition of the renal tubular excretion of penicillin. Science 105: 94-95, 1947.
- 31. BEYER, K. H.: Functional characteristics of renal transport mechanisms. Pharmacol. Rev. 2: 227-280, 1950.
- BEYER, K. H.: Factors basic to the development of useful inhibitors of renal transport mechanisms. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 98: 97-117, 1954.
- BEYER, K. H., FLIPPIN, H., VERWEY, W. F. AND WOODWARD, R.: The effect of para-aminohippuric acid on the plasma concentration of penicillin in man. J. Amer. med. Ass. 126: 1007-1009, 1944.
- BEYER, K. H., MCKINNEY, S. E., TILLSON, E. K. AND GREEN, C. W.: 4'-Carboxyphenylmethane sulfonanilide: its toxicologic effects. J. Pharmacol. 91: 263-271, 1947.
- BEYER, K. H., RUSSO, H. F., PATCH, E. A., TILLSON, E. K. AND SHANER, G.: Certain pharmacologic properties of 4'-carboxyphenylmethane sulfonanilide (caronamide), including its effect on the renal clearance of compounds other than penicillin. J. Pharmacol. 91: 272-287, 1947.
- 36. BEYER, K. H., RUSSO, H. F., SCHUCHARDT, G. S., FISHMAN, J. A., WIEBELHAUS, V. D. AND KEMP, R. L.: 3-Hydroxy-2-phenylcinchoninic acid (HPC): Its absorption, excretion and its effects on certain renal functions and enzyme systems. J. Pharmacol. 103: 79-92, 1951.
- BEYER, K. H., WIEBELHAUS, V. D., RUSSO, H. F., PECK, H. M. AND MCKINNEY, S. E.: Benemid (p-(di-n-propylsulfamyl)-benzoic acid)—an anticatabolite: its pharmacological properties. Fed. Proc. 9: 258-259, 1950.
- 38. BEYER, K. H., WOODWARD, R., PETERS, L., VERWEY, W. F. AND MATTIS, P.: The prolongation of penicillin retention in the body by means of para-aminohippuric acid. Science 100: 107-108, 1944.
- 39. BLASCHKO, H.: Amine oxidase and amine metabolism. Pharmacol. Rev. 4: 415-458, 1952.
- BLASCHKO, H., RICHTER, D. AND SCHLOSSMANN, H.: The oxidation of adrenaline and other amines. Biochem. J. 31: 2187-2196, 1937.
- 41. BLISS, C. I.: The toxicity of poisons applied jointly, Ann. appl. Biol. 26: 585-615, 1939.
- 42. BOER, B. DE: The effects of thiamine hydrochloride upon pentobarbital sodium (Nembutal) hypnosis and mortality in normal, castrated and fasting rats. J. Amer. pharm. Ass., Sci. Ed. 37: 302-307, 1948.
- BOJARSKI, S.: Die Wirkungen von Pantopon und morphinfreiem Pantopon in Kombination mit Urethan. Z. exp. Path. Ther. 18: 73-79, 1916.
- BOVET, D. AND SIMON, A.: Prolongation de la narcose par le pipéridinométhylbenzodioxane (933F) et les dérivés voisins, aminocumaranes et phénoxyéthylamines sympathicolytiques. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 117: 958-960, 1934.
- BRANNON, L. W.: Piperonyl cyclonene and piperonyl butoxide as synergists with rotenone. J. econ. Ent. 40: 933-934, 1947.
- 46. BREDENFELD, E.: Die intravenöse Narkose mit Arzneigemischen. Z. exp. Path. Ther. 18: 80-90, 1916.
- BRESLAUER, A. AND WOKEB, G.: Über die Wirkung von Narkotikakombinationen auf Colpidium colpoda. Z. allg. Physiol. 13: 282-318, 1912.
- BRODIE, B. B., SHORE, P. A., SILVER, S. L. AND PULVER, R.: Potentiating action of chlorpromazine and reserpine. Nature, Lond. 175: 1133-1134, 1955.
- 49. BROWNLEE, G.: The wider aspects of the chemotherapy of tuberculosis. Pharmacol. Rev. 5: 421-450, 1953.
- BUCHEL, L., LAZARD, L. AND LÉVY, J.: Sur quelques phenomènes de synergie II. Associations d'hypnotiques et d'un spasmolytique, le cyclohexylcyclohexanecarboxylate de 2-pipéridinoéthyle. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 148: 261-263, 1955.
- BUNIM, J. J., PECHET, M. M. AND BOLLET, A. J.: Studies on metacortandralone and metacortandracin in rheumatoid arthritis. Antirheumatic potency, metabolic effects, and hormonal properties. J. Amer. med. Ass. 157: 311-318, 1955.
- 52. BURGEN, A. S. V.: The mechanism of action of anticholinesterase drugs. Brit. J. Pharmacol. 4: 219-228, 1949.
- 53. BÜRGI, E.: Die Wirkung von Narcotica-Kombinationen. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 36: 20-23, 1910.
- 54. BÜRGI, E.: Über wirkungspotenzierende Momente in Arzneigemischen. Med. Klinik 8: 2037-2041, 1912.
- 55. BÜRGI, E.: Über wirkungspotenzierende Momente in Arsneigemischen. Med. Klinik 8: 2073-2075, 1912.
- 56. BÜRGI, E.: Anschauungen über die Wirkung der Arzneigemische. Z. allg. Physiol. 14: 39-54, 1913.
- 57. BURGI, E.: Über Narkotikakombinationen. Z. allg. Physiol. 14: 65-78, 1913.
- 58. BÜRGI, E.: Über Arzneigemische und ihre Wirkungen. Z. exp. Path. Ther. 18: 23-30, 1916.
- BURGI, E.: Über die pharmakologische Bedeutung der Arzneigemische. Ergebn. inn. Med. Kinderheilk. 23: 556-570, 1923.
- 60. BÜRGI, E.: Über die pharmakologische Bedeutung der Arzneigemische. Med. Klinik 22: 833-837, 1926.
- 61. BÜRGI, E.: Über die Arzneikombinationen. Wien. klin. Wachr. 44: 757-762, 1931.
- 62. BURGI, E.: Über das Kombinieren von Arzneien. Wien. med. Wschr. 54: 7-10 and 55-58, 1931.
- 63. BURN, J. H.: The relation of adrenaline to acetylcholine in the nervous system. Physiol. Rev. 25: 377-394, 1945.
- BUSHLAND, R. C., MCALISTER, L. C., EDDY, G. W., JONES, H. A. AND KNIPLING, E. F.: Development of a powder treatment for the control of lice attacking man. J. Parasit. 30: 377-387, 1944.
- CAESAR, H.: Quantitative Untersuchung der Toxizitätsänderung des Morphins bei Kombination mit anderen Opiumalkaloiden. Biochem. Z. 42: 316-324, 1912.
- CARLIELE, E. M. AND CRESCITELLI, F.: Selective inhibition of brain respirations by Benadryl. Science 112: 272-273, 1950.

- 67. CARMICHAEL, E., GRAHAM, W. D. AND ALLMARK, M. G.: Effect of Antabuse on Evipal-induced alcoping-time in rate. Fed. Proc. 10: 170, 1951.
- CABNMALM, B., ERDTMAN, H. AND PELCHOWIEZ, Z.: Constitution of resin phenols and their biogenetic relations XIX. The structure of seeamolin, the configuration of sesamin and the nature of fagarol. Acta chem. scand. 9: 1111-1118, 1955.
- 69. CASTILLO, J. C. AND DE BEER, E. J.: The neuromuscular blocking action of succinylcholine (diacetylcholine). J. Pharmacol. 99: 458-464, 1950.
- CHAMBERLAIN, R. W.: An investigation on the action of piperonyl butoxide with pyrethrum. Amer. J. Hyg. 52: 153-183, 1950.
- /1. CHILDRESS, S. J., CORDASCO, M. G., PLEESS, J. O. AND REINER, L.: Electronegative substitutions in local anesthetics of the benzoic acid ester type. J. Amer. chem. Soc. 76: 3988-3991, 1954.
- CHRISTENSEN, E. N. AND GROSS, E. G.: Analgesic effects in human subjects of morphine, meperidine and methadon. J. Amer. med. Ass. 137: 594-598, 1948.
- CLARE, A. J.: General pharmacology. In: Heffter's Handbuch der experimentellen Pharmakologie, Ergänzungswerk Vol. 4. Springer, Berlin 1937.
- COHEN, A. AND KING, H.: Antiplasmodial action and chemical constitution I. Cinchona alkaloidal derivatives and allied substances. Proc. roy. Soc. 125B: 49-60, 1938.
- COHEN, J. A. AND POSTHUMUS, C. H.: The mechanism of action of anticholinesterases. Acta physiol. pharm. néerl. 4: 17-36, 1955.
- COHEN, J. A., WARRINGA, M. G. P. J. AND INDORF, I.: Relationship between the pharmacological action of neuromuscular drugs and their capacity to inhibit esterases. Acta physiol. pharm. néerl. 4: 187-200, 1955.
- 77. COOK, L., MACKO, E. AND FELLOWS, E. J.: The effect of β -diethylaminoethyldiphenylpropylaoetate hydrochloride on the action of a series of barbiturates and C.N.S. depressants. J. Pharmacol. 112: 382-386, 1954.
- 78. COOK, L., NAVIS, G. J. AND FELLOWS, E. J.: Enhancement of the action of certain analysis drugs by β-diethylaminoethyldiphenylpropylacetate hydrochloride. J. Pharmacol. 112: 473-479, 1954.
- 79. COOK, L., NAVIS, G. J., TONER, J. J. AND FELLOWS, E. J.: Potentiation of certain analgesic drugs by β-diethylaminoethyldiphenylpropylacetate hydrochloride (SKF no. 525-A). Fed. Proc. 12: 313, 1953.
- COOK, L., TONER, J. J. AND FELLOWS, E. J.: The effect of β-diethylaminoethyldiphenylpropylacetate hydrochloride (SKF No. 525-A) on hexobarbital. J. Pharmacol. 111: 131-141, 1954.
- COOPER, J. R., AXELROD, J. AND BRODIE, B. B.: Inhibitory effects of β-diethylaminoethyldiphenylpropylacetate on a variety of drug metabolic pathways in vitro. J. Pharmacol. 112: 55-63, 1954.
- COOPER, J. R. AND BRODIE, B. B.: Inhibitory action of β-diethylaminoethyldiphenylpropylacetate HCl (SKF 525A) on metabolism of barbiturates and alkylamines in liver alices and homogenates. Fed. Proc. 12: 313-314, 1953.
- COOPER, J. R. AND BRODIE, B. B.: The enzymatic metabolism of hexobarbital (evipal). J. Pharmacol. 114: 409-417, 1955.
- 84. CORNFORTH, J. W., D'ARCY HART, P., REES, R. J. W. AND STOCK, J. A.: Antituberculous effect of certain surface-active polyoxyethylene ethers in mice. Nature, Lond. 168: 159-153, 1951.
- 85. COUBVOISIER, S., FOURNEL, J., DUCROT, R., KOLSKY, M. AND KOETECHET, P.: Propriétés pharmacodynamiques du chlorhydrate du chloro-3(diméthylamino-3'-propyl)-10 phénothiazine (4560 R.P.). Étude expérimentale d'un nouveau corps utilisé dans l'anesthésie potentialisée et dans l'hibernation artificielle. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 92: 305-361, 1953.
- 86. CRONHEIM, G. AND EHRLICH, M.: The combined use of pentobarbital sodium and methadone hydrochloride for anesthesia in dogs. J. Amer. vet. med. Ass. 117: 41-42, 1950.
- CRONHEIM, G. AND EHRLICH, M.: A note on antihistamines and pentobarbital anesthesia: lack of potentiating effect. J. Amer. pharm. Ass., Sci. Ed. 49: 415-416, 1951.
- CROSSON, J. W., BOGER, W. P., SHAW, C. C. AND MILLER, A. K.: Caronamide for increasing penicillin plasma concentrations in man. J. Amer. med. Ass. 134: 1528-1532, 1947.
- DALE, H. H. AND GADDUM, J. H.: Reactions of denervated voluntary muscle and their bearing on the mode of action of parasympathetic and related nerves. J. Physiol. 70: 109-144, 1930.
- 90. DAVID, W. A. L. AND BRACCY, P.: Activation of pyrethrins in fly sprays. Nature, Lond. 153: 594-595, 1944.
- 91. DAVIES, A. W. AND MOORE, T.: Interaction of vitamins A and E. Nature, Lond. 147: 794-796, 1941.
- 92. DAVIES, D. R.: Cholinesterases and the mode of action of some anticholinesterases. J. Pharm., Lond. 6: 1-26, 1954.
- DENNY, F. E.: Synergistic effects of three chemicals in the treatment of dormant potato tubers to hasten germination. Contr. Boyce Thompson Inst. 14: 1-20, 1945.
- 94. D'Esopo, N.: Chemotherapy of tuberculosis in man. Present status. J. Amer. med. Ass. 154: 52-59, 1954.
- DILLE, J. M. AND AHLQUIST, R. P.: The synergism of ethylalcohol and sodium pentobarbital. J. Pharmacol. 61: 385-392, 1937.
- DIMOND, A. E. AND HORSFALL, J. G.: Synergism as a tool in the conservation of fungicides. Phytopathology 34: 136-139, 1944.
- 97. DINGEMANSE, E., FREUD, J. AND POLAK, J. J.: x-Substances augmenting the effect of testosterone upon male sex accessories of rat. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 76: 44-62, 1948.
- DOVE, W. E.: Piperonyl butoxide, a new and safe insecticide for the household and field. Amer. J. trop. Med. 27: 339-345, 1947.
- DVORETZKY, I. AND RICHTER, G. H.: The synthesis of esters of 2.6-dimethyl-4-aminobenzoic acid. J. Org. Chem. 18: 615-619, 1953.
- 100. EAGLESON, C.: Oil synergist for insecticides. U.S. Patent 2.202.145, May 28, 1940.

- 101. EAGLESON, C.: Sesame in insecticides. Soap, N.Y. 18: 125, 1942.
- 102. EIBER, H. B.: Thorazine-Rauwolfia serpenting combination in the treatment of essential hypertension. Bull. N. Y. Acad. Med. 31: 407-408, 1955.
- 103. ELION, G. B., SINGER, S. AND HITCHINGS, G. H.: Antagonists of nucleic acid derivatives VIII. Synergism in combinations of biochemically related antimetabolites. J. biol. Chem. 298: 477–488, 1954.
- 104. ELLIS, S.: Studies on physostigmine and related substances. IV. Chemical studies on physostigmine breakdown products and related epinephrine derivatives. J. Pharmacol. 79: 364-372, 1943.
- 105. EYLES, D. E. AND COLEMAN, N.: Synergistic effect of sulfadiazine and daraprim against experimental toxoplasmosis in the mouse. Antibiot. and Chemother. 3: 483-490, 1953.
- 106. FLECKENSTEIN, A. AND BASS, H.: Zum Mechanismus der Wirkungsverstärkung und Wirkungsabechwächung sympathomimetischer Amine durch Cocain und andere Pharmaka. I. Die Sensibilisierung der Katzen-Nickhaut für Sympathomimetica der Brenskatechin-Reihe. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 220: 143-156, 1953.
- 107. FLECKENSTEIN, A. AND STÖCKLE, D.: Zum Mechanismus der Wirkungsverstärkung und Wirkungssbechwächung sympathomimetischer Amine durch Cocain und andere Pharmaka. II. Die Hemmung der Neuro-Sympathomimetica durch Cocain. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 224: 401-415, 1955.
- 108. FLODMARK, S. AND WRAMNER, T.: The analgetic action of morphine, escrine and prostigmine studied by a modified Hardy-Wolff-Goodell method. Acta physiol. scand. 9: 88-96, 1945.
- 109. FLOREY, H.: Some problems in the chemotherapy of tuberculosis. Proc. R. Soc. Med. 45: 71-78, 1952.
- 110. FREI, W.: Versuche über Kombination von Desinfektionsmitteln. Z. Hyg. InfektKr. 75: 433-496, 1913.
- 111. FRIED, J., FLOREY, K., SABO, E. F., HERZ, J. E., RESTIVO, A. R., BORMAN, A. AND SINGER, F. M.: Synthesis and biological activity of 1- and 6-dehydro-9α-halocorticoids. J. Amer. chem. Soc. 77: 4181-4182, 1955.
- 112. FRIED, J. AND SABO, E. F.: Synthesis of 17α hydroxycorticosterone and its 9α-halo- derivatives from 11-epi-17αhydroxycorticosterone. J. Amer. chem. Soc. 75: 2273-2274, 1953.
- FRIED, J. AND SABO, E. F.: 9α-Fluoro derivatives of cortisone and hydrocortisone. J. Amer. chem. Soc. 76: 1455-1456, 1954.
- 114. FRöhlich, A. AND LOEWI, O.: Untersuchungen zur Physiologie und Pharmakologie des vegetativen Nervensystems. II. Über eine Steigerung der Adrenalinempfindlichkeit durch Cocain. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 62: 159-169, 1910.
- 115. FÖHNER, H.: Untersuchungen über den Synergismus von Giften. IV. Die chemische Erregbarkeitesteigerung glatter Muskulatur. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 82: 51-80, 1918.
- 116. GADDUM, J. H. AND KWIATKOWSKI, H.: The action of ephedrine. J. Physiol. 94: 87-100, 1938.
- 117. GARROD, O., NABARRO, J. D. N., PAWAN, G. L. S. AND WALKER, G.: Metabolic effects of 9α-fluorohydrocortisone and of cortisone in adrenal insufficiency. Lancet 367-371, 1955 (II).
- 118. GIARMAN, N. J., FLICE, F. H. AND WHITE, J. M.: Prolongation of thiopental anesthesia in the mouse by premedication with tetraethylthiuram disulfide ("Antabuse"). Science 114: 35-36, 1951.
- 119. GIBBS, O. S.: Synergistic action of drugs. Drug Cosmet. Ind. 68: 462-463 and 533-536, 1951.
- GISEL, A.: Über die Verstärkung der Wirkung eigentlicher Narkotika durch Cannabis indica. Z. exp. Path. Ther. 18: 39-51, 1916.
- 121. GLICE, D.: Further studies on the specificity of choline esterase. J. biol. Chem. 130: 527-534, 1939.
- 122. GLICE, D.: Specificity studies on enzymes hydrolyzing esters of substituted amino and nitrogen heterocyclic alcohols. J. Amer. chem. Soc. 64: 564-567, 1942.
- 123. GOETZL, F. R., BURRILL, D. Y. AND IVY, A. C.: The analgetic effect of morphine alone and in combination with dextro amphetamine. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 55: 248-250, 1944.
- 124. GOLDETEIN, A.: The interactions of drugs and plasma proteins. Pharmacol. Rev. 1: 102-165, 1949.
- 125. GRAHAM, W. D.: In vitro inhibition of liver aldehyde dehydrogenase by tetraethylthiuram disulphide. J. Pharm., Lond. 3: 160–168, 1951.
- 126. GRAHAM, W. D., CARMICHAEL, E. J. AND ALLMARK, M. G.: The in vivo potentiation of barbiturates by tetraethylthiuram disulphide. J. Pharm., Lond. 3: 497-500, 1951.
- 127. GRAHAM, W. D., TEED, H. AND ALLMARE, M. G.: Factors affecting the potentiation of barbiturate action by tetraethylthiuram disulphide. J. Pharm., Lond. 4: 615-618, 1952.
- 128. GREENBERG, J., BOYD, B. L. AND JOSEPHSON, E. S.: Synergistic effect of chlorguanide and sulfadiazine against Plasmodium gallinaceum in the chick. J. Pharmacol. 94: 60-64, 1948.
- GREENBERG, J. AND RICHESON, E. M.: Potentiation of the antimalarial activity of sulfadiasine by 2, 4-diamino-5-aryloxypyrimidines. J. Pharmacol. 99: 444-449, 1950.
- GREIG, M. E. AND MAYBERRY, TH. C.: The relationship between cholinesterase activity and brain permeability. J. Pharmacol. 102: 1-4, 1951.
- GRIESEMER, E. C., BARSKY, J., DRAGSTEDT, C. A., WELLS, J. A. AND ZELLER, E. A.: Potentiating effect of iproniasid on the pharmacological action of sympathomimetic amines. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 84: 699-701, 1953.
- 132. GRIESEMER, E. C., DRAGSTEDT, C. A., WELLS, J. A. AND ZELLER, E. A.: Adrenergic blockade by iproniazide. Experientia 11: 182-183, 1955.
- 133. GRUBER, C. M.: A theoretical consideration of additive and potentiated effects between drugs with a practical example using alcohol and barbiturates. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 102: 17-32, 1955.
- 134. GUNNISON, J. B., SHEVKY, M. C., BRUFF, J. A., COLEMAN, V. R. AND JAWETZ, E.: Studies on antibiotic synergism and antagonism: the effect in vitro of combinations of antibiotics on bacteria of varying resistance to single antibiotics. J. Bact. 66: 150-158, 1953.
- 135. GUNTHER, F. A., BLINN, R. C., CARMAN, G. E. AND METCALF, R. L.: Mechanisms of insecticidal action. The structural topography theory and DDT-type compounds. Arch. Biochem. 50: 504-505, 1954.

- HALLEB, H. L., LAFORGE, F. B. AND SULLIVAN, W. N.: Some compounds related to sesamin: their structures and their synergistic effect with pyrethrum insecticides. J. org. Chem. 7: 185-188, 1942.
- HALLEE, H. L., LAFOBGE, F. B. AND SULLIVAN, W. N.: Effect of sesamin and related compounds on the insecticidal action of pyrethrum on houseflies. J. econ. Ent. 35: 247-248, 1942.
- HALLEB, H. L., MCGBOVAN, E. R., GOODHUE, L. D. AND SULLIVAN, W. N.: The synergistic action of sessimin with pyrethrum insecticides. J. org. Chem. 7: 183-184, 1942.
- 139. HAMMERSCHMIDT, W.: Über die Morphium-Chloralhydrat- und die Morphium-Urethan-Narkose bei intravenöser Injection. Z. exp. Path. Ther. 8: 374-397, 1911.
- 140. HARBIS, P. L., KALEY, M. W. AND HICKMAN, K. C. D.: Covitamin studies II. The sparing action of natural tocopherol concentrates on carotene. J. biol. Chem. 152: 313-320, 1944.
- HAUCKOLD, E.: Über die Beeinflussung von Narcoticis durch Scopolamin. Z. exp. Path. Ther 7: 743-762, 1910.
 HAVINGA, E. AND VELDETRA, H.: Researches on sulphanilamide, p-amino-bensoic acid, with remarks on the action of ergons and anti-ergons in general. Rec. Trav. chim. Pays-Bas 66: 285-299. 1947.
- 143. HEINRICH, M. A.: Central depression of the antihistaminics. Fed. Proc. 10: 307, 1951.
- 144. HELLSTRÖM, N.: An attempt to explain the interaction of auxin and antiauxin in root growth by an adsorption mechanism. Acta chem. scand. 7: 461-468, 1953.
- 145. HEREOG, H. L., NOBILE, A., TOLKSDORF, S., CHARNEY, W., HERSHBERG, E. B., PERLMAN, P. L. AND PECHET, M. M.: New antiarthritic steroids. Science 121: 176, 1955.
- 146. HEWLETT, P. S.: Insecticidal synergism with valone. Nature, Lond. 173: 132, 1954.
- 147. HICKMAN, K. C. D. AND HABRIS, P. L.: Tocopherol interrelationships. Advanc. Ensymol. 6: 469-524, 1946.
- 148. HICKMAN, K. C. D., KALEY, M. W. AND HARRIS, P. L.: Covitamin studies I. The sparing action of natural tocopherol concentrates on vitamin A. J. biol. Chem. 152: 303-311, 1944.
- HICKMAN, K. C. D., KALEY, M. W. AND HARRIS, P. L.: Covitamin studies III. The sparing equivalence of the tocopherols and mode of action. J. biol. Chem. 152: 321-328, 1944.
- 150. HIGUCHI, T. AND LACHMAN, L.: Inhibition of hydrolysis of esters in solution by formation of complexes I. Stabilization of benzocaine with caffeine. J. Amer. pharm. Ass., Sci. Ed. 44: 521-526, 1955.
- HIRSCHBERG, E., KREAM, J. AND GELLHORN, A.: Enzymatic deamination of 8-asaguanine in normal and neoplastic tissues. Cancer Res. 12: 524-528, 1952.
- 152. HITCHINGS, G. H.: Studies on analogs of purines and pyrimidines. In: Antimetabolites and cancer, ed. by C. P. Rhoads, pp. 231-241. A.A.A.S., Washington 1955.
- HITCHINGS, G. H., ELION, G. B. AND SINGER, S.: Effects of combinations of three biochemically related antimetabolites. Fed. Proc. 14: 227, 1955.
- 154. HOLADAY, D. A., KAMIJO, K. AND KOELLE, G. B.: Facilitation of ganglionic transmission following inhibition of cholinesterase by DFP. J. Pharmacol. 111: 241-254, 1954.
- 155. HORSFALL, J. G.: Fungicides and their action. Chronica Botanica Co., Waltham, Mass. 1945.
- 156. HUBBARD, T. F. AND GOLDBAUM, L. R.: Effects of pyribenzamine on the respiration of brain homogenates. J. Lab. clin. Med. 35: 284-286, 1950.
- 157. HUNTER, R. B. AND WILSON, W. M.: Effect of caronamide on blood penicillin concentrations in man. Lancet 601-604, 1948 (IJ).
- 158. HARST, E. W. AND DAVIES, O. L.: Studies on the blood-brain barrier II. Attempts to influence the passage of substances into the brain. Brit. J. Pharmacol. 5: 147-164, 1950.
- 159. HUBST, H.: Principles of insecticidal action as a guide to drug reactivity-phase distribution relationships. Trans. Faraday Soc. 39: 390-412, 1943.
- 160. HUBST, H.: Ensyme activity as a factor in insect physiology and toxicology. Nature, Lond. 156: 194-198, 1945.
- 161. HUTTER, O. F.: Effect of choline on neuromuscular transmission in the cat. J. Physiol. 117: 241-250, 1952.
- 162. ISSEKUTZ, B. VON: Über den Synergismus der Opiumalkaloide. Pflüg. Arch. ges. Physiol. 145: 415-439, 1912.
- 163. ISSEKUTZ, B. VON: Über den Synergismus der Lokalanästhetika. Pflüg. Arch. ges. Physiol. 145: 448-454, 1912.
- 164. ITO, Y., TAMAOKI, B. AND EGUSA, M.: Sex hormones II. Synergisms between hormones and other compounds. The existence of androgen activator in whale testis fat and a statistical method to prove the synergism. J. pharm. Soc. Japan 72: 172–182, 1952.
- 165. ITO, Y., TAMAOKI, B. AND SAKAMOTO, H.: Sex hormones V. Synergisms between hormones and other compounds 2. The interaction between androgen and estrogen in the castrated male hamster. J. pharm. Soc. Japan 72: 756-762, 1952.
- 166. JAWETZ, E. AND GUNNISON, J. B.: An experimental basis of combined antibiotic action. J. Amer. med. Ass. 159: 692-695, 1952.
- JAWETZ, E., GUNNISON, J. B., BRUFF, J. B. AND COLEMAN, V. R.: Studies on antibiotic synergism and antago nism. J. Bact. 64: 29-39, 1952.
- 168. JAWETZ, E., GUNNISON, J. B. AND COLEMAN, V. R.: The combined action of penicillin with streptomycin or chloromycetin on Enterococci in vitro. Science 111: 254-256, 1950.
- JAWETZ, E., GUNNISON, J. B., SPECK, R. S. AND COLEMAN, V. R.: Studies on antibiotic synergism and antagonism. Arch. intern. Med. 87: 349-359, 1951.
- JOHNSON, W. J.: The inhibition of sulphanilamide acetylation by aromatic and heterocyclic carboxamides and carboxhydrazides. Canad. J. Biochem. Physiol. 33: 107-111, 1955.
- JOHNSON, W. J.: Effects of inhibitors of sulphanilamide acetylation on sulphonamide blood concentrations. Canad. J. Biochem. Physiol. 33: 523-529, 1955.
- 172. JONGH, D. K. DE AND PROCEDEJ-HARTZEMA, E. G. VAN: Influence of tetrasthylthiuram-disulfide on duration of action of thiopental in mice. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 96: 97-98, 1953.

- 173. JONGH, D. K. DE AND PROOSDIJ-HARTZEMA, E. G. VAN: Studies on cinchons-alkaloids and related compounds. I. Antimalarial activity. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 98: 270-272, 1954.
- 174. KIER, E.: Über Kombinationswirkungen IX. Die Wirkungsvariationen in Trichloräthylurethan—("Voluntal-")-Pyramidongemischen. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 121: 368-367, 1927.
- 175. KIER, E. AND LOEWE, S.: Über Kombinationswirkungen II. Wirkungen von Diäthylbarbitursäure-Pyramidon-Gemischen. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 114: 327-338, 1926.
- KIER, E. AND LOEWE, S.: Über Kombinationswirkungen III. Die Wirkungsvariationen in Veronal-Antipyrin-Gemischen. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 114: 339-347, 1926.
 KIEB. E. AND LOEWE, S.: Über Kombinationswirkungen IV. Die Wirkungsvariationen im Gemisch Veronal-
- Phenasetin. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 116: 140-146, 1926. 178. KXER, E. AND LOEWE, S.: Über Kombinationswirkungen VI. Die Wirkungsvariationen in Veronal-Asetyl-
- salisylsäuregemischen. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 118: 108-114, 1926. 179. KAINDL, K.: Zur Wirkungsweise von Wuchs- und Hemmstoffen. II. Versuch einer trefferstatistischen Deutung
- der Wirkung von Wuchs- und Hemmstoffen. Biochim. biophys. Acta 6: 395-405, 1951. 180. KAINDL, K.: Versuch einer biophysikalischen Deutung des Pflanzenwachstums. Biochim. biophys. Acta 18:
- 241-255, 1953. 181. KAINDL, K.: Biophysikalische Analyse der Konsentrations-Wirkungskurven von Wirkstoffen (insbesondere
- Zellstreckungs Wuchsstoffen). M. Chem. 85: 985-1002, 1954. 182. KEGULICHES, P.: Über die Wirkung von Narkotikakombinationen bei Fröschen. Z. exp. Path. Ther. 18: 52-60,
- 1916. 183. KELL, W. AND HEPP, G.: Über Verstärkung der Lokalanästhesie durch Morphium. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak.
- KEL, W. AND HEPP, G.: UDEr Verstarkung der Lokalanastnesse durch Morphium. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 179: 420-424, 1935.
- 184. KIRSCHNER, L. B. AND STONE, W. E.: Action of inhibitors at the myoneural junction. J. gen. Physiol. 34: 821-834, 1951.
- 185. KJELDGAARD, N. O.: Inhibition of aldehyde oxidase from liver by tetraethylthiuramdisulphide (Antabuse). Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 5: 397-403, 1949.
- 186. KNOLL, J. AND KOMLÓS, E.: Die analgetische Wirkung des Atropins und sein Synergismus mit Morphin und Prostigmin. Acta physiol. hung. 2: 57-69, 1951.
- 187. KNOLL, J. AND KOMLÓS, E.: Einfluss des Peptons auf die Wirkung der Analgetika und Parasympathomimetika. Acta physiol. hung. 3: 127-136, 1952.
- KNOLL, J., KOMLÓS, E. AND PORSZÁSZ, J.: Analgesie und Cholinesterssehemmung. Acta physiol. hung. 2: 479-491, 1951.
- 189. KNOLL, J., KOMLÓS, E. AND TARDOS, L.: Über die Rolle der Eiweissbindung im Synergismus der Analgetika und Parasympathomimetika. Acta physiol. hung. 4: 131-140, 1953.
- KNOPPERS, A. T. AND NIEUWENHUYSE, C. T.: Combinations of einchona alkaloids and bird-malaria: Summation or synergism? Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 73: 260-286, 1946.
- 191. KOELLE, G. B. AND GILMAN, A.: Anticholinesterase drugs. Pharmacol. Rev. 1: 166-216, 1949.
- 192. KOK, K. AND JONGH, D. K. DE: Studies on the effect of tetraethylthiuramdisulphide (disulphiram) and diethyldithiocarbamate (DDC) on the oxygen uptake of rat brain cortex slices. Acta physiol. pharm. néerl. 4: 207-231, 1955.
- 193. KOLMER, J. A. AND RULE, A. M.: The synergistic or additive activity of chemotherapeutic compounds. Amer. J. med. Sci. 215: 136-148, 1948.
- 194. KOMLÓS, E. AND KNOLL, J.: Synergismus der Analgetika mit Cholin. Acta physiol. hung. 3: 123-126, 1952.
- KOMLÓS, E., PÓRSZÁSZ AND KNOLL, J.: Morphin-Prostigmin Synergismus. Acta physiol. hung. 1: 77-90, 1950.
 KORENCHEVSKY, V.: The bisexual and other effects of pure male sexual hormones on females. Ergebn. Vitam.u. Hormonforsch. 2: 418-468, 1939.
- 197. KRADOLFER, F.: Untersuchungen an antagonistischen und synergistischen Beziehungen von Tween 80 su antibakteriellen Wirkstoffen im Hinblick auf deren Wirksamkeit in der Tuberkelbasillenkultur. Schweis. Z. allg. Path. 13: 326-339, 1950.
- 198. KRANTZ, J. C. AND FASSEL, M. F.: The effect of iodides on phenobarbital narcosis. J. Amer. pharm. Ass., Sci. Ed. 90: 511-513, 1951.
- LAMSON, P. D., GREIG, M. E. AND ROBBINS, B. H.: The potentiating effect of glucose and its metabolic products on barbiturate anesthesia. Science 110: 690-691, 1949.
- 200. LECOMTE, J. AND FISCHER, P.: Sensibilisation par l'adrénochrome et ses dérivés de réduction, des effets de l'adrénaline et de l'excitation sympathique. Arch. int. Physiol. 58: 424-440, 1951.
- LECOQ, R., CHAUCARD, P. AND MAZONÉ, H.: Interrelations des vitamines du complexe B. Antagonismes et synergies. Ann. pharm. franç. 8: 537-547, 1950.
- 202. LEHR, D.: Inhibition of drug precipitation in the urinary tract by the use of sulfonamide mixtures. I. Sulfathiazole-sulfadiasine mixture. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 58: 11-14, 1945.
- 203. LEHR, D.: Low toxicity of sulfonamide mixture. II. Combinations of sulfathiazole, sulfadiasine and sulfamerazine. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 64: 393-401, 1947.
- 204. LEONARDI, G. AND CAMPUS, F.: Ricerche sul meccanismo dell'asione sinergica fra antibiotica e chemioterapici IV. Inibizione del potere inattivante del siero nei confronti della streptomicina in presensa di sulfamidici in vitro. Boll. Soc. ital. Biol. Sper. 24: 632-633, 1948.
- 205. LEONARDI, G. AND CAMPUS, F.: Ricerche sul meccanisma dell'azione sinergica fra antibiotici e chemioterapici V. Inibizione del potere inattivante del siero nei confronti della penicillina in presenza di bensoato di sodio in vitro. Boll. Soc. ital. Biol. Sper. 24: 633-634, 1948.

- 206. LEONARDI, G. AND CAMPUS, F.: Ricerche sul meccanisma dell'azione sinergica fra antibiotici e chemioterapici VI. Inibizione del potere inattivante del siero nei confronti della streptomicina in presenze di benzoato di sodio in vitro. Boll. Soc. ital. Biol. sper. 24: 635, 1943.
- 207. LETTRÉ, H.: Synergists and antagonists of mitotic poisons. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 58: 1264-1275, 1954.
- 208. LEVINE, R. M. AND CLARK, B. B.: Relationship between structure and in vitro metabolism of various esters and amides in human serum. J. Pharmacol. 113: 272-282, 1954.
- 209. LEWIN, R.: Über die Skopolamin-Chloralhydratnarkose. Z. exp. Path. Ther. 18: 61-66, 1916.
- LIDDLE, G. W., PECHET, M. M. AND BARTTER, F. C.: Enhancement of biological activities of corticosteroids by substitution of halogen atoms in 9α- position. Science 120: 496-497, 1954.
- 211. LIGHTSTONE, H. AND NELSON, J. W.: Antihistamine potentiation of pentobarbital anesthesia. J. Amer. pharm. Ass., Sci. Ed. 43: 263-266, 1954.
- 212. LINDEMANN, F.: Versuche über die Morphium-Urethannarcose. Z. exp. Path. Ther. 7: 725-742, 1910.
- 213. LINDQUIST, A. W., MADDEN, A. H. AND WILSON, H. G.: Pre-treating houseflies with synergists before applying pyrethrum sprays. J. econ. Ent. 40: 426-427, 1947.
- 214. LINSER, H.: Zur Wirkungsweise von Wuchs- und Hemmstoffen I. Wachstumswirkungen von Indol-3-cesigeäure und Eosin sowie pflanzlicher Wuchs- und Hemmstoffe im Gemische an der Avena-Koleoptile. Biochim. biophys. Acta 6: 384-394, 1951.
- LINGER, H.: Chemische Konstitution und Zellstreckungswirkung verschiedener Stoffe. Mh. Chem. 85: 196-226, 1954.
- 216. LOEWE, L., ROSENBLATT, P. AND ALTURE-WERBER, E.: A refractory case of subacute bacterial endocarditis due to Veillonella Gaeogenes, clinically arrested by a combination of penicillin, sodium para-aminohippurate, and heparin. Amer. Heart J. 32: 327-338, 1946.
- LOEWE, L., ROSENBLATT, P., ALTURE-WERBER, E. AND KOZAK, M.: The prolonging action of penicillin by paraaminohippuric acid. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 58: 298-300, 1945.
- LOEWE, S.: Über Kombinationswirkungen VIII. Wirkungen von Diäthylbarbitursäure-p-Kresotinsäure-Codeingemischen. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 129: 40-47, 1927.
- LOEWE, S.: Die Mischarsnei. Versuch einer allgemeinen Pharmakologie der Arzneikombinationen. Klin. Wschr.
 6: 1077-1085, 1927.
- 220. LOEWE, S.: Coalitive actions of combined drugs. J. Pharmacol. 63: 24, 1938.
- 221. LOEWE, S.: The problem of synergism and antagonism of combined drugs. Arsneim. Forsch. 3: 285-290, 1953.
- 222. LOEWE, S.: Potentiation of drug-produced ejaculation by β-diethylaminoethyldiphenylpropylacetate (SKF No. 525A). J. Pharmacol. 110: 271-276, 1954.
- 223. LOEWE, S., KÄER, E. AND MUISCHNEK, H.: Über Kombinationswirkungen VII. Grundlagen der Prüfung von Drei-Pharmakamischungen. Anwendung auf Phenasetin-Azetylsalizylsäure-Codeinmischungen. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 120: 25-40, 1927.
- 224. LOEWE, S. AND MUISCHNEE, H.: Über Kombinationswirkungen I. Hilfsmittel der Fragestellung. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 114: 313–326, 1926.
- 225. LONGO, V. G.: Antagonismo e sinergismo fra eserina e curari naturali e di sintesi. R.C. Ist. sup. Sanit. 12: 249-254, 1949.
- 226. Löw, H. AND TAMMELIN, L. E.: On succinylcholine, a neuromuscular blocking drug, and its synergism with TEPP. Acta physiol. scand. 23: 78-84, 1951.
- 227. MAASS, R., CAREY, P. L. AND HEMING, A. E.: Effect of β-diethylaminoethyldiphenylpropyl-acetate hydrochloride on the metabolism of 3-(o-toloxy)-1, 2-propanediol. Fed. Proc. 12: 345-346, 1953.
- 228. MACGREGOR, D. F.: The relation of cocaine and of procaine to the sympathetic system. J. Pharmacol. 66: 393-409, 1939.
- 229. MACHT, D. I.: Action of the opium alkaloids, individually and in combination with each other, on the respiration. J. Pharmacol. 7: 339-373, 1915.
- 230. MACKO, E., COOK, L., TONER, J. J. AND FELLOWS, E. J.: Potentiation of certain spinal cord depressants and central nervous system stimulants by β -diethylaminoethyldiphenylpropylacetate hydrochloride (SKF No. 525A). Fed. Proc. 12: 346, 1953.
- 231. MANSFELD, G.: Über das Wesen synergetischer Arzneiwirkungen. Pflüg. Arch. ges. Physiol. 161: 444-466, 1915.
- 232. MARCH, R. B., METCALF, R. L. AND LEWALLEN, L. L.: Studies on synergists for DDT against resistant house-
- flies. J. econ. Ent. 45: 851-860, 1952.
 233. MATSUBARA, H.: Studies on the mechanism of synergistic action in insecticides II. On the inhibitory action of piperonyl butoxide for the detoxification of pyrethroids by the housefly. Botyn Kagaku 19: 61-69, 1954.
- 234. MAXWELL, J. M., COOK, L., NAVIS, G. J., TONER, J. J. AND FELLOWS, E. J.: Effects of β-diethylaminoethyldiphenylpropylacetate hydrochloride (SKF No. 525A) on a series of hypnotics. Fed. Proc. 12: 349, 1953.
- 235. MCMAHON, F. G. AND WOODS, L. A.: Further studies on the metabolism of lidocaine (xylocaine) in the dog. J. Pharmacol. 103: 354, 1951.
- 236. MELTZER, S. J.: Studies on the "paradoxical" pupil-dilatation caused by adrenalin. II. On the influence of subcutaneous injections of adrenalin upon the eyes of cats after removal of the superior cervical ganglion. Amer. J. Physiol. 11: 37-39, 1904.
- 237. MENTZER, C.: Ressemblance chimique et action synergique des molécules organiques. In: Actualités pharmacologiques 2^e série, pp. 159-178, ed. by R. Hazard. Masson, Paris 1950.
- MERCIER, F.: Potentialisation, par la spartéine, de l'activité analgésique expérimentale. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 148: 1431-1434, 1954.
- 239. MERCIER, F. AND MARINACCE, P.: Influence exercée par un ester du diéthylaminoethanol sur l'activité expérimentale de quelques analgésiques centraux. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 145: 1340-1343, 1951.

- 240. MERCIER, F., MERCIER, J., ETZENSPERGER, P. AND ROUILLON, D.: Renforcement, par les ganglioplégiques, des activités analgésique et anesthétique locale expérimentales. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 148: 1443-1450, 1954.
- 241. METCALF, R. L.: Physiological basis for insect resistance to insecticides. Physiol. Rev. 35: 197-232, 1955.
- 242. MINE, B. AND PLOTKA, C.: Sur le mécanisme de la synergie des médiateurs chimiques. Arch. Sci. physiol. 1: 19-33, 1947.
- 243. MIRSKY, J. H. AND GIARMAN, J.: Studies on the potentiation of thiopental. J. Pharmacol. 114: 240-249, 1955.
- 244. MIYAKE, T.: On the mechanism of adrenaline potentiating action of cocaine. Jap. J. Pharmacol. 1: 91-113, 1953. 245. MOLDOWSKAJA, L.: Die Wirkung der Physostigmin- und Pilokarpinkombination auf den überlebenden Darm.
- Z. exp. Path. Ther. 18: 31-38, 1916. 248. MOOBE, T.: The effect of vitamin E deficiency on the vitamin A reserves of the rat. Biochem. J. 34: 1321-1328,
- 240. MOOKE, 1.: The effect of vitamin E denciency on the vitamin A reserves of the rat. blochem. J. 32: 1051-1050, 1940.
- 247. MOORE, T.: The interrelation of vitamins. Vitam. and Horm. 3: 1-21, 1945.
- 248. ΝΑVIS, G. J., TONER, J. J. AND COOK, L.: Effect of β-diethylaminoethyldiphenylpropylacetate hydrochloride (SKF No. 525A) on the activity of d-tubo-curarine chloride. Fed. Proc. 12: 354, 1953.
- 249. NEUBERT, D. AND HERKEN, H.: Wirkungesteigerung von Schlafmitteln durch den Phenyldiallylessigsäuresster des Diäthylaminoäthanols. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 225: 453-462, 1955.
- OLDHAM, F. K., KELSEY, F. E. AND GEILING, E. M. K.: Essentials of pharmacology, pp. 15-16. Lippincot Co., London 1951, 2nd ed.
- 251. OLSZYCKA, L.: Étude quantitative des phénomènes de synergie. Potentialisation de l'action hypnotique ches la souris. C. R. Acad. Sci., Paris 291: 796-797, 1935.
- 252. OLEXYCKA, L.: Études quantitatives des phénomènes de synergie. Contribution à l'étude du méchanisme des phénomènes de potentialisation de l'action hypnotique ches le rat. C. R. Acad. Sci., Paris 292: 1107-1109, 1936.
- OLSZYCKA, L.: Répartition de l'alcool éthylique dans les différentes parties du système nerveux central du rat, soumis à l'action de l'association alcool-butyléthylmalonylurée. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 133: 368-370, 1940.
 ORAHOVATS, P. D., WINTER, C. A. AND LEHMAN, E. G.: Pharmacological studies of mixtures of narcotics and
- N-allylmorphine J. Pharmacol. 112: 246-251, 1954.
- 255. OSTERLOH, G.: Die synergistische Wirkung von Succinylcholin und Cholin. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 222: 184-186, 1954.
- OSTERLOH, G.: Zur Wirkungssteigerung von Succinyl-bis-cholin und Dekamethonium durch Cholin. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 222: 360-366, 1954.
- PAGE, A. B. AND BLACKITH, R. E.: Bioassay systems for pyrethrins II. Mode of action of pyrethrum synergists. Ann. appl. Biol. 36: 244-249, 1949.
- 258. PARKIN, E. A. AND GREEN, A. A.: Activation of pyrethrins by sesame oil. Nature, Lond. 154: 16-17, 1944.
- 259. PERRY, A. S. AND HOSKINS, W. M.: The detoxification of DDT by resistant houseflies and inhibition of this process by piperonyl cyclonene. Science 111: 600-601, 1950.
- 260. PERRY, A. S. AND HOSKINS, W. M.: Synergistic action with DDT toward resistant house flies. J. econ. Ent. 44: 839-850, 1951.
- 261. PERRY, A. S., MATTSON, A. M. AND BUCKNER, A. J.: The mechanism of synergistic action of DMC with DDT against resistant houseflies. Biol. Bull. 104: 426-438, 1953.
- 262. PERSKY, H., GOLDSTEIN, M. S. AND LEVINE, R.: The ensymatic mechanism of barbiturate action. J. Pharmacol. 100: 273-283, 1950.
- 263. PETERSON, G. T.: Synergisms in medicine. Aust. J. Pharm. 35: 124-128, 1954.
- 264. PHILPOT, F. J.: The inhibition of adrenaline oxidation by local anaesthetics. J. Physiol. 77: 301-307, 1940. 265. PIQUETT, P. G., NELSON, R. H. AND MCGROVAN, E.R.: Synergism in pyrethrum-piperonylcyclohexenone roach
- powders. J. econ. Ent. 40: 577-578, 1947.
 266. PLETSCHER, A., SHORE, P. A. AND BRODIE, B. B.: Serotonin release as a possible mechanism of reserving sotion
- Science 122: 374-375, 1955.
- 267. POHLE, K. AND DITTRICH, P.: Kombination mit Sulfonal. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 162: 716-726, 1931.
- 268. POHLE, K. AND SPIECKERMANN, W.: Vergleichende Untersuchungen über die analgetische Breite verschiedener Antipyretika bei Kombination mit Schlafmitteln I. Kombinationen mit Veronal. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 162: 685-705, 1931.
- 269. POHLE, K. AND VOGEL, F.: Kombinationen mit Urethan. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 162: 706-715, 1931.
- 270. PÓBSZÁSZ, J., KNOLL, J. AND KOMLÓS, E.: Wirkung der Parasympathomimetika auf die Analgesie. Acta physiol. hung. 2: 469–477, 1951
- 271. PÓRSZÁSZ, J., VENULET, J. AND GIBISZEB-PÓRSZÁSZ: Untersuchungen über die Synergisierbarkeit der Analgetika: Wirkung des Doryls und Physostigmins auf die Verteilung des Dolantins im Organismus. Acta physiol. hung. 5: 509-519, 1954.
- 272. POUWELS, H. AND VELDSTRA, H.: Synthetic oxytocics V. Quinine derivatives. Rec. Trav. chim. Pays-Bas 74: 795-804, 1955.
- 273. PRILL, E. A., HARTZELL, A. AND ARTHUR, J. M.: Some cyclic acetals containing the 3,4-methylenedioxyphenyl radical and their insecticidal effectiveness against houseflies. Contr. Boyce Thompson Inst. 14: 397-403, 1947.
- 274. PRILL, E. A. AND SYNERHOLM, M. E.: Report on some miscellaneous methylenedioxyphenyl compounds tested for synergism with pyrethrum in fly sprays. Contr. Boyce Thompson Inst. 14: 221-227, 1946.
- 275. RAALTE, M. H. VAN: On the synergism of indole and indole-3-acetic acid in root production. Ann. Bogorienses 1: 167-180, 1954.
- 276. RABJOHN, N., FRONABARGER, J. W. AND LINSTROMBERG, W. W.: β-Diethylaminoethyl esters of sterically hindered alkyl substituted benzoic acids. J. org. Chem. 29: 271-273, 1955.

- 277. RAMMELKAMP, C. H. AND BRADLEY, S. E.: Excretion of penicillin in man. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 53: 30-52, 1943.
- 278. RAMSEY, H. AND HAAG, H. B.: The synergism between the barbiturates and ethyl alcohol. J. Pharmacol. 88: 313-322, 1946.
- 279. RAPPOPORT, C.: Über die Opium-Urethancombination. Z. exp. Path. Ther. 9: 39-48, 1911.
- RAVENTOS, J.: Synergism and antagonism of acetylcholine and quaternary ammonium compounds. J. Physiol. 88: 5P-7P. 1937.
- 281. RAVENTOS, J.: Pharmacological actions of quaternary ammonium salts. Quart. J. exp. Physiol. 26: 361-374, 1937. 282. RENTZ, E.: Zur Systematik und Nomenklatur der Kombinationswirkungen. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 43: 337-
- 361, 1932.
- RENTZ, E.: Über eine neue Art des Synergismus Antipyrin-Schlafmittel. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 182: 459-470, 1936.
- 284. REUTNER, T. F. AND GRUHZIT, O. M.: Methadone, a new analgesic. Study in combination with thiobarbiturate anesthesia in dogs. J. Amer. vet. med. Ass. 113: 448-451, 1948.
- RICHARDS, R. K., BERTCHER, E. L. AND TAYLOR, J. D.: The effect of various solutions upon barbiturate anesthesia. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 99: 463-469, 1952.
- 286. RIDEAL, E. K.: Surface chemistry in relation to biology. Endeavour 4: 83-90, 1945.
- 287. ROUBH, A. AND NORRIS, E. R.: Deamination of 8-asaguanine. Arch. Biochem. 29: 124-129, 1950.
- RÜEGG, J. C. AND LANGEMANN, H.: Wirkungsverstärkung von Adrenalin und Noradrenalin durch Asetylcholin am isolierten Irisdilatator des Kaninchens. Experientia 11: 447–448, 1955.
- 289. SANDBERG, F.: A quantitative study on the alcohol barbiturate synergism. Acta physiol. scand. 22: 311-325, 1951. 290. SCHUELE, F. W. AND CALVIN, H.: The pharmacologic activities of some hydrazonium analogues related to ace-
- tylcholine, tetramethylammonium and tetraethylammonium. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 88: 351-360, 1951. 291. SCHWEINBURG, F. B. AND RUTENBURG, A. N.: In vitro sensitivity of bacteria to sulfonamide combinations as
- compared to single sulfonamides. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 74: 480-483, 1950. 292. SEKERA, A., SOVA, J. AND VEBA, Č.: Stability and local anaesthetic effect in some derivatives of "xylocaine". Experientia 11: 275-276, 1955.
- 293. SENECA, H.: Antibiotics and antibiotic combinations in amebiasis. Amer. J. dig. Dis. 22: 247-253, 1955.
- 294. SENECA, H. AND BERGENDAHL, E.: The synergistic amebicidal effect of tetracycline, oxytetracycline and carbo-
- mycin on cultures of Endameba histolytica. Amer. J. med. Sci. 228: 16-20, 1954. 295. SENECA, H., HENDERSON, E. AND HARVEY, M.: Synergistic effect of penicillin and streptomycin on *E. histo-*
- lytica. Amer. J. trop. Med. 29: 37-39, 1949. 296. SEREMBE, M.: Potensiamento dell'asione fossica della novocaina da parte del chloramfenicolo. Boll. Soc. ital. Biol. sper. 28: 1121-1122, 1952.
- 297. SHAPIRO, D. M. AND GELLHORN, A.: Combinations of chemical compounds in experimental cancer therapy. Cancer Res. 11: 35-41, 1951.
- 298. SHAPIRO, D. M., KREAM, J. AND DIETEICH, L. S.: Combination chemotherapy of cancer: potentiation of carcinostatic activity of 8-azaguanine by 6-formylpteridine. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 81: 616-619, 1952.
- 299. SHAW, F. H. AND SHULMAN, A.: Morphine antagonists. Nature, Lond. 175: 388-389, 1955.
- 300. SHORE, P. A., SILVEB, S. L. AND BRODIE, B. B.: Interaction of serotonin and lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD) in the central nervous system. Experientia 11: 272-273, 1955.
- 301. SHORE, P. A., SILVER, S. L. AND BRODIE, B. B.: Interaction of reservine, serotonin and lysergic acid diethylamide in brain. Science 122: 284-285, 1955.
- 302. SJOERDSMA, A., SMITH, T. E., STEVENSON, T. D. AND UDENFRIEND, S.: Metabolism of 5-hydroxytryptamine (Serotonin) by monoamine oxidase. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 89: 36-38, 1955.
- 303. SLAUGHTER, D. AND GROSS, E. G.: Some new aspects of morphine action. Effect on intestine and blood pressure; toxicity studies. J. Pharmacol. 68: 96-103, 1940.
- SLAUGHTER, D. AND MUNSELL, D. W.: Some new aspects of morphine action. Effects on pain. J. Pharmacol. 68: 104-112, 1940.
- 305. SMITH, J. W. AND LOOMIS, T. A.: The potentiating effect of alcohol on thiopental induced aleep. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 78: 827-829, 1951.
- 306. SNAMENSKI, M.: Über Kombinationswirkungen. V. Die Säugerherz-Wirkung von Strophanthus-Digitalis-Gemischen. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 116: 147-157, 1926.
- 307. SNELL, R. S. AND MCINTYRE, N.: Effect of denervation on the histochemical appearance of cholinesterase at the myoneural junction. Nature, Lond. 176: 884-885, 1955.
- SOBOTKA, H. AND GLICK, D.: Lipolytic enzymes. I. Studies on the mechanism of lipolytic enzyme action. J. biol. Chem. 105: 199-219, 1934.
- 309. SPERONI, G.: Impiego di sinergici nella lotta contro la mosca domestica resistente agli insetticidi clorurati. Chim. e Industr. 34: 309, 1953.
- SPERONI, G.: Impiego di sinergici nella lotta contro la mosca domestica resistente agli insetticidi di contatto. Chim. e Industr. 34: 391-403, 1952.
- SPERONI, G., LOSCA, G., SANTI, R. AND PERI, C.: Recherches sur des produits synergiques des insecticides chlorurés. Chim. et Industr. 69: 658-666, 1953.
- 312. STARKENSTEIN, E. AND WERDEN, H.: ZUR Physiologie und Pharmakologie der Sterine IV. Der Einfluss des Cholesterins auf die Wirkung der Hypnotics und Narkotics. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 182: 700-714, 1936.
- 313. STAUB, H.: Chemotherapie der Tuberkulose. Schweis. med. Wachr. 83: 531-536 and 551-556, 1953.
- 314. STENDER, O. AND AMBLER, C.: Beiträge zur Kenntnis der Morphingewöhnung. Arch. exp. Path, Pharmak. 169: 195-204, 1931.

- 315. STEENBURG, J., KEARNS, C. W. AND BRUCE, W. N.: Absorption and metabolism of DDT by resistant and susceptible houseflies. J. econ. Ent. 43: 214-219, 1950.
- 316. STORM VAN LEEUWEN, W.: Über den Synergismus von Arzneimitteln. Pflüg. Arch. ges. Physiol. 166: 65-87, 1917.
- 317. STORM VAN LEEUWEN, W.: Über die Wirkung von Arzneigemischen. Naturwissenschaften 8: 929–938, 1920.
- 318. STORM VAN LEEUWEN, W.: On sensitiveness to drugs in animals and men. J. Pharmacol. 24: 13-19, 1925. 319. STORM VAN LEEUWEN, W.: On antagonism of drugs. J. Pharmacol. 24: 21-24, 1925.
- 320. STORM VAN LEEUWEN, W.: A possible explanation for certain cases of hypersensitiveness to drugs in men. J. Pharmacol. 24: 25-32, 1925.
- 321. STORM VAN LEEUWEN, W. AND VAN DEN BROEKE, C.: Experimentele beinvloeding van de gevoeligheid van verschillende dieren en overlevende organen voor vergiften. I. Proc. Kon. Akad. Wetensch., Amsterdam 28: 689-703, 1920.
- 322. STORM VAN LEEUWEN, W. AND DE LIND VAN WIJNGAARDEN, C.: Over den invloed van lobeline op de bloedsdrukverhoging door nicotine. Proc. Kon. Akad. Wetensch., Amsterdam 26: 560-565, 1917.
- 323. STORM VAN LEEUWEN, W. AND VAN DER MADE, M.: Experimentele beinvloeding van de gevoeligheid van verschillende dieren en overlevende organen voor vergiften II. Proc. Kon. Akad. Wetensch., Amsterdam 28: 704-720, 1920.
- 324. STOTT, W. AND HARRIS, C. C.: Synergistic effect of cod liver vitamin D on synthetic vitamin D. Nature, Lond. 155: 267, 1945.
- 325. STRAUB, H.: Die Wirkung von Adrenalin in ihrer Beziehung zur Innervation der Iris und zu der Funktion des Ganglion cervicale superius. Pflüg. Arch. ges. Physiol. 134: 15-30, 1910.
- 326. STRAUB, W.: Die pharmakodynamische Wirkung des Narkotins im Opium. Biochem. Z. 41: 419-430, 1912.
- 327. STRAUB, W.: Über Narcophin, ein rationelles Opiumpräparat. Münch. med. Wschr. 59: 1542–1543, 1912.
- 328. SUMERFORD, W. T., FAY, R. W., GOETTE, M. B. AND ALLRED, A. M.: Promising DDT-synergist combinations for the control of resistant flies. J. nat. Malar. Soc. 10: 345-349, 1951.
- 329. SUMERFORD, W. T., GOETTE, M. B., QUATERMAN, K. D. AND SCHENCK, S. L.: The potentiation of DDT against resistant house flies by several structurally related compounds. Science 114: 6-7, 1951.
- 330. SWINGLE, W. W., BAKEB, C., EISLER, M., LEBRIC, S. J. AND BRANNICK, L. J.: Efficacy of 9 α-halo and other steroids for maintenance of adrenalectomized dogs. Fed. Proc. 14: 150, 1955.
- 331. SWINYARD, E. A., MADSEN, J. A. AND GOODMAN, L.S.: The effect of β-diethylaminoethyldiphenylpropylacetate (SKF No. 525A) on the anticonvulsant properties of antiepileptic drugs. J. Pharmacol. 111: 54-63, 1954.
- 332. TANG, Y. W. AND BONNER, J.: The enzymatic inactivation of indoleacetic acid I. Some characteristics of the enzyme contained in pea seedlings. Arch. Biochem. 13: 11-25, 1947.
- 333. TANG, Y. W. AND BONNER, J.: The ensymatic inactivation of indoleacetic acid II. The physiology of the ensyme. Amer. J. Bot. 35: 570-578, 1948.
- 334. TAUBENHAUS, M.: The influence of cortisone upon granulation tissue and its synergism and antagonism to other hormones. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 56: 666-673, 1953.
- 335. THER, L.: Über ein neues Leitungsanaesthetikum der "Nirvanin"-Reihe mit groeser Entgiftungsgeschwindigkeit (Hostacain). Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 229: 300-316, 1953.
- 336. THIMANN, K. V.: The role of ortho-substitution in the synthetic auxins. Plant Physiol. 27: 392-404, 1952.
- 337. THIMANN, K. V. AND BONNER, W. D., JR.: The action of tri-iodobenzoic acid on growth. Plant Physiol. 23: 158-161, 1948.
- 338. TONER, J. J., COOK, L. AND FELLOWS, E. J.: Potentiation of hexobarbital by β-diethylaminoethyldiphenylpropylacetate hydrochloride (SKF No. 525A). Fed. Proc. 12: 373, 1953.
- 339. TRIPOD, J.: The sympathomimetic action of local anaesthetics. J. Physiol. 97: 289-300, 1940.
- 340. VELDSTRA, H.: Actions synergiques des analogues structuraux. Bull. Soc. Chim. biol., Paris 30: 772-792, 1948.
- VELDSTRA, H.: Synergistic activity of structural analogues. 12th Internat. Congress of Pure and Applied Chemistry, Med. Chem. Section, New York, N. Y., 1951.
- 342. VELDETRA, H.: The relation of chemical structure to biological activity in growth substances. Annu. Rev. Pl. Physiol. 4: 151-198, 1953.
- 343. VELDETRA, H. AND BOOIJ, H. L.: Researches on plant growth regulators XVII. Structure and activity. On the mechanism of the action III. Biochim. biophys. Acta 3: 278-312, 1949.
- 344. VELDSTRA, H. et al.: Unpublished experiments.
- 345. VERWEY, W. F., MILLER, A. K. AND SCHLOTTMAN, D. W.: Effect of "Benemid" and Carinamid on penicillin therapy of experimental pneumococcic infections in mice. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 79: 500-503, 1952.
- 346. WACHS, H.: Synergistic insecticides. Science 105: 530-531, 1947.
- 347. WAELSCH, H. AND RACKOW, H.: Natural and synthetic inhibitors of choline esterase. Science 96: 386, 1942.
- 348. Webster's New International Dictionary of the English Language. G. C. Merriam Co., Springfield, Mass. 1948, 2nd ed.
- 349. WEISS, A.: Über die Wirkungsbedingungen des Novokains. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 167: 177-190, 1932.
- 350. WENT, F. W.: On the pea test method for auxin, the plant growth hormone. Proc. Kon. Akad. Wetensch., Amsterdam 37: 547-555, 1934.
- 351. WIEDLING, S.: Contributions to the pharmacology and toxicology of xylocaine. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 8: 117-133, 1952.
- 352. WILSON, C. S.: Piperonyl butoxide, piperonyl cyclonene, and pyrethrum applied to selected parts of individual flies. J. econ. Ent. 42: 423-428, 1949.
- 353. WINTER, C. A.: The potentiating effect of antihistaminic drugs upon the sedative action of barbiturates. J. Pharmacol. 94: 7-11, 1948.

- 354. WINTERINGHAM, F. P. W. AND BORNES, J. M.: Comparative response of insects and mammals to certain halogenated hydrocarbons used as insecticides. Physiol. Rev. 35: 701-739, 1955.
- 355. WINTEEINGHAM, F. P. W., LOVEDAY, P. M. AND HARRISON, A.: Resistance of house flies to DDT. Nature, Lond. 167: 106-107, 1951.
- 356. WINTERS, W. D. AND SHIDEMAN, F. E.: Mechanism of potentiation of barbiturate depression in rats by disulfiram (Antabuse). Fed. Proc. 13: 417-418, 1954.
- 357. WINTEES, W. D., SHIDEMAN, F. E., RICHARDS, R. K. AND TAYLOB, J. D.: Influence of tetraethylthiuram disulfide (Antabuse) on the duration of action of thiopental. J. Pharmacol. 106: 425, 1952.
- 358. WINTERS, W. D., SHIDEMAN, F. E., RICHARDS, R. K. AND TAYLOR, J. D.: Influence of tetraethylthiuram disulfide (Antabuse) on duration of action of thiopental. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y., 81: 576-578, 1952.
- 359. WOOLLEY, D. W.: A study of antimetabolites. Wiley & Sons, New York 1952.
- WOOSTER, H. A. AND SUNDERMAN, F. W.: The prolongation of pentobarbital sodium anesthesia by nitrates and nitrites. J. Pharmacol. 97: 140-143, 1949.
- 361. WRAMNER, T.: The potentiating effect of neostigmine and esserine on the action of morphine as measured by the Straub-Herrmann reaction. Acta physiol. scand. 9: 336-340, 1945.
- 362. WRIGHT, C. J. AND SABINE, J. C.: The inactivation of cholinesterase by morphine, dilaudid, codeine and decomorphine. J. Pharmacol. 78: 375-385, 1943.
- 363. ZELLER, E. A. AND BARSKY, J.: In vivo inhibition of liver and brain monoamine oxidase by 1-isonicotinyl-2-isopropyl hydrasine. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 81: 459-461, 1952.
- 364. ZELLER, E. A., BARSKY, J., FOUTS, J. R., KIRCHHEIMER, W. F. AND VAN ORDEN, L. S.: Influence of isonicotinic acid hydrazide (INH) and 1-isonicotinyl-2-isopropyl hydrazide (IIH) on bacterial and mammalian ensymes. Experientia 9: 349-350, 1952.
- 365. ZAIMIS, E. J.: The action of decamethonium on normal and denervated mammalian muscle. J. Physiol. 112: 176-190, 1951.
- 366. ZUBROD, C. G., DEARBORN, E. H. AND MARSHALL, E. K., JR.: Effect of 3-hydroxy-2-phenylcinchoninic acid on renal secretion of phenyl red and penicillin. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 74: 671-674, 1950.